
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 25 June 2019

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 3 JULY 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Kate Gregory

Lorraine Hillier
Alexandrine Kantor
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Sarah Gray
Victoria Haval

Kellie Hinton
Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy

Caroline Newton
Anne-Marie Simpson
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack



2

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 10)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meeting 
held on 12 June 2019.  

4 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

6 Proposals for site visits  

7 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

8 14 Ilges Lane 
Cholsey, OX10 
9NX  

Reserved Matters application for 
appearance, landscaping (to include 
detailed plans showing the existing 
and proposed ground levels of the 
vehicular access and the site relative 
to a fixed datum point on adjoining 

P19/S0614/RM 11 - 22



3

land outside of the application site) 
and layout, for demolition of existing 
bungalow and erection of one pair of 
semi-detached dwellings and one 
detached dwelling with shared 
access on outline planning 
permission P16/S4236/O.

9 The Chequers 
Inn, Berrick 
Salome, OX10 
6JN  

Internal and external alterations to 
listed public house including 
extension to existing car park. As 
amended by plan 1702/04/D 
received 23 April, 2019 altering the 
design of the front porch.

P19/S0358/FUL 
& P19/S0359/LB

23 - 42

10 Land at 
Woodcote 
Road, South 
Stoke, RG8 0JJ  

Reserved matters application (for the 
appearance, landscaping, layout, 
and scale) following Outline approval 
P17/S3206/O for a residential 
development of up to 5 dwellings, 
and associated works, including 
access. 

In addition to discharge conditions 5- 
landscaping, 6- tree protection, 7- 
biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement strategy, 11- 
construction traffic management, 13- 
refuse and recycling storage and 16- 
construction method statement.

P19/S0171/RM 43 - 60

11 Windrush 
Bridge Terrace 
Thame, Oxon, 
OX9 3LU  

Variation of condition 2 of application 
P15/S3607/FUL for the increase in 
the height of Units 1 and 2, the 
provision of 5 rooflights and 5 
skylights to Units 1 and 2 to facilitate 
loft conversions, the provision of two 
additional windows in the east 
elevation of Unit 3 and the 
reconfiguration of the ground floor 
layout of Unit 3.

(Demolition of existing dwelling at 
Windrush and erection of pair of 
semi-detached dwellings and one 
detached dwelling).

P19/S0095/FUL 61 - 70

12 3 Elmcroft 
Goring, RG8 
9EU  

Erection of 2 dwellings. (As 
amended by noise assessment 
received 12th November 2018, 
further arboricultural and acoustic 
fence information received 27th 

P18/S2900/FUL 71 - 86



4

March 2019 and revised plans and 
tree protection information received 
4th June 2019).

13 Unit 4, The 
Arcade, High 
Street, Goring, 
RG8 9AY  

Change of use  of Unit 4 to 
Pilates/Yoga Studio ( Class D2).

P19/S1246/FUL 87 - 94

14 Pinfold Greys 
Green, RG9 
4QG  

Erection of two two-storey 5-
bedroom dwellings (as amended by 
plans received 21 March 2019 
revising the design, scale and 
position of the proposed dwellings 
and adding privacy screens to the 
proposed rear balconies).

P19/S0161/FUL 95 - 
110



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 12 JUNE 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Ian Snowdon (Chairman)

Peter Dragonetti, Ken Arlett, David Bretherton, Kate Gregory, Lorraine Hillier, 
Alexandrine Kantor, George Levy, Jo Robb, Ian White and Celia Wilson

Apologies:

None. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Kim Gould, Lloyd Jones, Emily Karau, Simon Kitson, Amanda Rendell, 
Cathie Scotting, Melanie Smans, and Tom Wyatt

Also present: 

Caroline Newton, David Turner.

Geoffrey Arnold, Oxfordshire County Council (Highways)

14 Chairman's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

15 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 22 May 2019 as a correct 
record and agree that the Chairman sign these as such.

16 Declarations of interest 

None.

17 Urgent business 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

There was no urgent business.

18 Proposals for site visits 

The committee received a proposal for a site visit in respect of application 
P19/S0288/FUL, Amberley, 26 Lambridge Wood Road, Henley-on-Thames.

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of application P19/S0288/FUL to allow for a site visit, 
as the committee had concerns regarding the scale of the proposed development.

19 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting.

20 P17/S4441/O - Land north of Rycote Lane near Thame 

The committee considered application P17/S4441/O for the erection of up to 180,000 
square feet (up to 16,722 square metres) of B2/B8 with ancillary B1(a) and B1(c) 
together with parking, drainage, landscaping (structural and incidental) and highway 
works at land north of Rycote Lane near Thame, OX9 2BY. A members’ site visit had 
been undertaken on 10 June 2019.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer reported that Appendix 3 had been appended in error. However, a 
revised version of it, approved by the Oxfordshire County Council as highways authority, 
formed part of the presentation to the committee.

With reference to paragraph 5.4, the biodiversity offsetting payment needed to be 
amended to read £32,108, as this now reflected the cost of administering the offset. 

A point of clarification was made in respect of paragraph 6.72 (Community Infrastructure 
Levy); offices were not liable for CIL.

The planning officer also updated members on the additional letters of representation 
received since completion of the committee report.

The planning officer recommended three additional conditions to control the future use of 
the site including:

- Restriction of permitted development from Use B Classes to residential, as the site 
is inappropriate for residential use and also to ensure that B2/B8 units could not 
be converted to offices. 

- Masterplan to require an appropriate mix of Use B Classes the majority for B2 to 
meet local economic needs and to determine links, screening and landscaped 
areas.  

- A footpath from the highway to within the site and to link to the Thame Cattle 
Market site – to provide a safe and desirable link for users.

Page 6



3

As the application was solely seeking outline planning permission (with access only) the 
site layout was only illustrative at this stage. Suggested conditions would be imposed to 
secure enhanced landscaping (including layout of footpath) and screening, the detailed 
design of buildings, proposed lighting and drainage etc.

The Economic Development Manager provided information on economic activity in South 
Oxfordshire and the surrounding areas, confirming that new affordable quality business 
space, as proposed, was in strong demand.

The representative of the Oxfordshire County Council highways department confirmed 
that the highway authority had no highway objections. A road safety audit had been 
undertaken and all issues had been resolved or were resolvable. Parking was a reserved 
matter to be judged against local plan standards in conjunction with the District Council. 
A range of travel options to the site were being considered.

The planning officer reported that further additional planning conditions could be added to 
mitigate environmental impacts, to provide for sustainable design including, for instance, 
solar panels, electric charging and rainwater capture.

Councillor Amanda Sheppard, a representative of Great Haseley Parish 
Council, spoke objecting to the application.

Mike Dyer of Thames Business Forum, spoke in support of the application.

Jake Collinge, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

Caroline Newton, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission, as recommended, plus the 
additional conditions, was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to authorise the Head of Planning to grant planning permission for 
application P17/S4441/O subject to:

The completion of the relevant legal agreements to secure:
• Highways works (s278)
• Public Art
• Travel Plan Monitoring (£2,040)

and subject to the following conditions:
1. Commencement outline planning permission with reserved matters
2. Approved plans
3. Levels
4. Sample materials required
5. Withdrawal of permitted development for B1/B2/B8 use
6. New vehicular access
7. Refuse and recycling storage
8. Off-site highway works
9. Turning area
10. Cycle parking facilities
11. Cyclist shower/changing facilities
12. CTMP (Construction Travel Management Plan)
13. Travel Plan

Page 7



4

14. Landscape Management Plan
15. Landscaping details 
16. Landscaping details
17. New hedge details
18. Biodiversity/Wildlife protection
19. Hours of operation during construction and demolition
20. Dust mitigation measures
21. Noise control/mitigation
22. External lighting
23. Surface water drainage works
24. Foul water drainage works
25. Sustainable drainage
26. Wildlife Protection
27. Wildlife Protection
28. Wildlife Protection
29. Wildlife Protection
30. Surface water drainage
31. Electric Charging Points 
32. Provision of solar panels and energy efficient measures
33. Landscaping masterplan
34. Details of proposed footpath from Rycote Lane
35. Condition detailing the proposed percentage of Business uses across the site

21 P18/S2809/O - Bayswater Farm Road, Headington 

The committee considered application P18/S2809/O for the erection of one 
dwellinghouse accessed from Bayswater Farm Road (as clarified by letter from applicant 
dated 27 September 2018) at Bayswater Farm Road, Headington.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer advised that an additional condition for a Construction Management 
Plan could be added, to alleviate issues with access, parking and deliveries during 
construction.

Frank Butt, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Vicky Rowe the applicant and agent, spoke in support of the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission as recommended, plus the 
additional condition, was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S2809/O subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commencement - Outline with Reserved Matters
2. Approved plans 
3. Foul drainage works (details required)
4. Surface water drainage works (details required)
5. Tree Protection (General)
6. New vehicular access 
7. Vision splay protection 

Page 8



5

8. Parking Area Details
9. Construction Management Plan

22 P19/S0358/FUL & P19/S0359/LB  - The Chequers Inn, Berrick 
Salome, OX10 6JN 

The committee considered applications P19/S0358/FUL and P19/S0359/LB for internal 
and external alterations to listed public house including extension to existing car park. As 
amended by plan 1702/04/D received 23 April, 2019 altering the design of the front porch 
at the Chequers Inn, Berrick Salome.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The Conservation Officer reported that the council had a legal duty to preserve the listed 
building and its architectural features.

Councillor Mike Craven-Todd, a representative of Berrick Salome Parish Council, spoke 
in support of the application.

Joseph Pugsley, architect, spoke in support of the application.

Mark Duggan, the landlord of the Chequers Inn, spoke in support of the application.

David Turner, the local member, spoke in support of the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to defer the applications for a site visit was declared 
carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of applications P19/S0358/FUL and P19/S0359/LB to 
facilitate a site visit to view the existing interior layout of the building and external features 
to the rear.

23 P19/S0288/FUL - Amberley, 26 Lambridge Wood Road, Henley-on-
Thames, RG9 3BS 

Consideration of this application had been deferred, pending a site visit.

24 P18/S4037/FUL - Manor Farm Barns, Chinnor Road, Crowell, OX39 
4RG 

Ian White, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration of 
this item.

The committee considered application P18/S4037/FUL for a single building comprising 5 
dwellings with access, parking, carport and amenity space; alternative to P17/S2415/O 
(amended plans received 27th March 2019, amending detailing, fenestration, site 
landscaping and parking provision) at Manor Farm Barns Chinnor Road, Crowell.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

Page 9



6

Lucy Newcombe, a representative of Crowell Parish Meeting, spoke objecting to the 
application.

Sally Munday, a local resident, spoke to the application.

Owen Yarnold, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Ian White, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/S4037/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commencement within three years - Full Planning Permission.
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans.
3. A schedule of Materials to be agreed in writing prior to the commencement of the 

development.
4. All hard and soft landscaping details, together with the type and height of all 

boundary treatments, shall be submitted and approved in writing prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

5. Details of the location and size of the bin storage area are to be submitted and 
approved prior to commencement of the development.

6. Parking and manoeuvring areas are to be provided as on plan and retained free 
from obstruction. The carports cannot be used for other incidental residential 
purposes without planning permission.

7. Vision splays to be provided as on plan (1617-SP2, RevC ) and maintained free 
from obstruction above 0.9m from carriageway level.

8. The off-site highway works shown on drawing 1617-SP2, RevC, shall be 
implemented in full before the first occupation of the development or in accordance 
with a programme of implementation agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.

9. The ridge height and ground levels shall be strictly as specified within the 
approved plans.

10. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions and outbuildings (Part 1 
Class A, B, E).

11. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for means of enclosure (Part 2 Class 
A) - no walls, fences etc.

Part way through the consideration of this application, members took a vote just before 
the meeting guillotine of 8:30pm to continue.

The meeting closed at 8.45 pm

Chairman Date

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0614/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 26.2.2019
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Anne-Marie Simpson

Jane Murphy
APPLICANT Aarrhus Developments Ltd
SITE 14 Ilges Lane Cholsey, OX10 9NX
PROPOSAL Reserved Matters application for appearance, 

landscaping (to include detailed plans showing the 
existing and proposed ground levels of the vehicular 
access and the site relative to a fixed datum point on 
adjoining land outside of the application site) and 
layout, for demolition of existing bungalow and 
erection of one pair of semi-detached dwellings and 
one detached dwelling with shared access on 
outline planning permission P16/S4236/O

OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Cholsey Parish Council who object to the 
application. The application was deferred from the meeting on 22 May, 2019 to allow 
Members of the Committee an opportunity to visit the site.  

1.2 No 14 Ilges Lane is a detached bungalow set back behind a raised embankment 
above the road. The property is served by a vehicular access leading to an off-road 
parking area and there is a private garden area to the rear.

1.3 The site lies within the built-up limits of Cholsey outside any area of restraint. The site 
lies within walking distance of the village shops and the railway station. 

1.4 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached as Appendix 1.

1.5 Outline planning permission for the demolition of the existing bungalow and the 
erection of 3 new dwellings comprising one pair of semi-detached houses and one 
detached house was approved under reference P16/S4236/O. The access and scale 
of the development only were considered at this outline stage with all other matters 
reserved. (Appearance, landscaping and layout.) Indicative drawings however, were 
submitted at the outline stage.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0614/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

1.6 The submitted indicative elevation drawing at the outline stage

The approved block plan at the outline stage

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks reserved matters approval for appearance, landscaping and 

layout, for the demolition of existing bungalow and erection of 3 dwellings with shared 
access. Access and scale where considered at the outline stage under application 
P16/S4236/O.

2.2 The current scheme comprises a terrace of 1 x 2, 1 x 3 and 1 x 4 bedroom dwellings. 
Each dwelling has its own private amenity area and allocated parking. The proposed 
building will be sited on generally the same footprint as the outline scheme and will be 
two storeys in height. 

2.3 A comparison of the footprint of the outline scheme and the current proposal (thick 
black line) is shown below.

2.4 The plans of the proposed development are attached as Appendix 2. Full details of the 
application and the consultation responses can be viewed on the council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Object

 The bulk and scale of the proposed houses appear to be out of kilter with the 
surrounding area, particularly as they occupy an elevated position.

 This new iteration of the plans appears to show the houses higher than in the 
original application.

 We are concerned that neighbours on the opposite side of the road will find 
these new houses dominant and overbearing.

 The site occupies a frontage on the narrowest part of Ilges Lane.

Page 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

 We are concerned that there is little room to manoeuvre cars on the drives of 
the houses and as such they will be forced to reverse into Ilges lane.

Countryside Officer - No objection 

Env. Protection Team - No objection 

OCC (Highways) – No objection subject to conditions relating to existing access, vision 
splay protection, parking and manoeuvring areas retained and no surface water 
drainage to highway.

Forestry Officer (landscaping) – Awaited

Neighbour Objection (1)
 Overdevelopment
 Out of keeping
 Bungalow more in keeping

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S4239/PEM - Other Outcome (30/01/2019)

Reserved Matters application for the siting and appearance of the three new dwellings 
along with landscaping for the site.(P16/S4236/O).
**OFFICE MEETING**

P16/S4236/O - Approved (15/03/2017)
Demolition of existing bungalow and erection of one pair of semi-detached dwellings 
and one detached dwelling with shared access. As amended by revised plans received 
on 07 February 2017 and by Swept Path drawings received on 24 February 2017.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan policies;

CNP H2  Infill 
CNP H5  New houses
CNP H6  New houses
CNP I1    Infrastructure
CNP 13   Drainage

Page 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4239/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4236/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

CNP T1   Walking and cycling network

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The principle, details of access and scale have already been approved. In considering 

this reserved matter application, the key issues are:

 Layout
 Appearance
 Landscaping
 Impact on neighbours
 Garden sizes

6.2 Layout
The proposed terrace would be set back further from the highway than the existing 
bungalow. This would result in a distance of some 28 metres between the front wall of 
the proposed terrace and the front of the houses on the other side of Ilges Lane. 
Access into the proposed site is situated off Ilges Lane. The proposed terrace would be 
set back on the site compared to no 12 Ilges lane but wholly in front of the neighbouring 
dwelling at no 16, thereby creating an appropriate transition between the 2 
neighbouring properties from a street scene perspective. 

This access was approved under planning application P16/S4236/O. The outline 
consent considered the means of access as a detailed matter. In accordance with the 
council’s parking standards, 7 spaces have been provided.

6.3 Appearance
The proposed development is a terrace of 3 properties. There are examples of other 
terraces within close proximity to the site e.g 45-51 and 13-17 Ilges Lane. As such the 
proposed appearance of the development would reinforce local distinctiveness. 

The proposed finishing materials are brick and plain tiles which are very traditional. The 
pallet of materials used in the locality are varied but do include brick and tile as well as 
render, thatch and timber boarding. As such the proposed materials of brick and clay 
tiles would be in keeping with the locality.
 

6.4 Landscaping
A landscaping scheme has been submitted with this application and includes planting 
between the proposed parking area and the front of the new terrace to provide an 
attractive outlook from the new dwellings. A condition requiring this landscaping 
scheme to be implemented has been recommended.

6.5 Impact on neighbours
The proposed layout included a first-floor bedroom window in the eastern elevation and 
a hallway window in the western elevation. Both of these windows would be obscure 
glazed to preserve the amenities of these neighbouring occupiers. A condition requiring 
this has been recommended. 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

The proposed building incorporates a hipped roof at either end to minimise the impact 
of the building from the 2 neighbouring properties. The indicative plans submitted at the 
outline stage showed gable ends to either flank.

No objection to this proposal has been received from neighbours.

6.6 Garden sizes
Minimum standards for new residential development are recommended in the South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide and in the saved Policy D3 of the SOLP. In this case, the 3 
and 4-bedroom dwellings require a minimum private garden area of 100sqm whilst the 
2 bed dwelling requires 50sqm of such amenity space. In this case, the plans show 
plots 1 and 2 both having 100sqm of rear garden and plot 3 having 60sqm of rear 
garden. As such the proposal meets the council’s standards in relation to garden sizes.

6.7 Community Infrastructure Levy
The Development is CIL liable and the necessary forms and information required at this 
stage have been submitted.

6.8 Other issues
The Parish Council have raised a number of concerns in relation to this application and 
these are addressed below.

 The bulk and scale of the proposed houses appear to be out of kilter with 
the surrounding area, particularly as they occupy an elevated position. 
The scale of the building was approved at the outline stage. As illustrated in the 
comparative drawings below, the scale of the outline scheme and the current 
scheme are very similar

 This new iteration of the plans appears to show the houses higher than in 
the original application.

The elevation drawings submitted in the outline application were indicative only. The 
front elevation facing Ilges lane was shown as follows:

The ridge height of this indicative drawing is some 7.15m 

The front elevation of the current proposal is shown below as a comparison. The ridge 
height of this is some 7.9m. As such the heights between the 2 schemes are 
comparable and not materially different in your officer’s opinion. 

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

 We are concerned that neighbours on the opposite side of the road will 
find these new houses dominant and overbearing. The South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide advises that front to front distances between dwellings should be 
a minimum of 10 m.  The scale of this development was approved at the outline 
stage. The buildings will be some 14.2 m away from  nos 33 and 35 Ilges Lane 
opposite the site and 10.06m from nos 29 and 31 Ilges Lane. The new dwellings 
will look towards the front of the existing dwellings opposite. As such the 
proposal accords with Design Guide advice.

 We are concerned that there is little room to manoeuvre cars on the drives 
of the houses and as such they will be forced to reverse into Ilges lane. 

7 car park spaces are provided within the site with turning area. A distance of 7m is 
proposed between the parking spaces on either side of the site. The Highway 
Officer is of the view that this is sufficient space for cars to manoeuvre out of the 
spaces and turn so as to leave the site safely.

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Outline planning permission for 3 dwellings exists on this site. The proposed 

development has a smaller footprint than the extant scheme and is more in keeping 
with the locality than the illustrative drawings submitted with the outline planning 
permission. The principle of this development has been approved. The proposal meets 
the council’s standards in relation to parking and garden sizes. As such, there are no 
technical reasons to refuse this application.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1. Approved plans 
2. Commencement - Reserved Matters Approval
3. Materials as on plan
4.  Obscure glazing
5.  Parking manoeuvring areas retained.  
6.  Landscaping plan to be implemented
7.  SI: Highways
8.  SI: Highways
9.  SI: Highways
10.SI: Neighbourhood Plan

Author:              Kim Gould
Contact No:       01235 422600
e-mail:               planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 18



Appendix 1

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



Rev Date Notes

K1872 - 02 - 202

Project

for

Drawing Title

Date

Job No Drawing No Revision

Scale

Proposed Block Plan

This document is the copyright work of Key Land
Estates ltd. unless formally assigned in writing

14 Ilges Lane
Cholsey Ox10 9NX

K1852

22/02/2019

P L A N N I N G

Park Office - Unit 1B
Monument Business Park

Warpsgrove Lane - Chalgrove
Oxfordshire. OX44  7RW

T: +44(0)1865 689 444

T: +44(0)7968 031139

pburman@keylandestates.co.uk
mhester@keylandestates.co.uk

www.keylandestates.co.uk

 Aarrhus Developments

Status
3

24

27

2

1

24

26

2216

37

45
49

41

19

53a

55

4

27
29 31

12

23

1

ILGES LANE

PA
N

TE
R

S 
R

O
AD

1

2

2A

2B

500mN

51
.3

8

51
.1

0

50
.8

4

50
.6

2

50
.3

2

50
.1

4

50.08

50.23

50
.2

7

50.22

50.26

50.29

50.20

50.16

50.12

49.99

50.07

50.11

50.07

50.01

49.96

49.95

49.97

50.01

50.26

50.40

50.45

50.56

50.48

50.38

51.42

51.39

51.37

50.49

50.59

50.64

50.78

50.72

50.64

51.69

51
.4

6

51
.35

51
.28 51.21

53
.9

7

49.97

52.59

55.65

50.30

54.30

51.94

56
.9

8

SV

MH CL

Gully

51.34

EPLP

Sta
y

EP

T.D.M
MH CL = 50.00m

Close board fence h=1.85

Close board fence h=1.85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

Shingle

IC CL 51.60      IL 50.00

Metal railing fence h=1
Metal railing fence h=1

Hedging h=1

SV

SV

Watermeter

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

DPC level

He
dg

ing
 a

ve
 h

=2

Garage

No.12

No.31

No.33

No.35

No.37

No.16

Pu
bl

ic
 F

oo
tp

at
h

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

Ridge level

Eaves level

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

55
.6

7
Ri

dg
e 

le
ve

l

55.43Ridge level

52.59

Eaves level

52.59Eaves level

56.80

Ridge level

58
.3

5

54
.9

2

Ea
ve

s l
ev

el

59.10Ridge level

59.21Ridge level

56.85

Eaves level

DPC level

Roof level

56.99

Eaves level

54.41

Roof level

52.04

DPC level

57
.4

7

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

54
.4

4
Ro

of
 le

ve
l

51
.2

8
M

H 
C

L

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

Grass

W
all

Wall

Drive

Note:All eaves levels taken on edge of roof tiles.

Chain link fence
strainer post

strainer post

ILGES LANE

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

4 Bed

3 Bed

2 Bed

North
ew

s

Scale Bars - shown in metres

Existing Site Plan 1:200 @ A1
1:200 @ A1

1:200 @ A1
4 100 2 16

Site Area
Sqm         - 870.0
Acres       - 0.215
Hectares  - 0.087

A

A
B

B

A    Feb 19   Scheme Revisions

B

B   22-02-19  Planning Issue

Appendix 2

P
age 20



Rev Date Notes

K1872 - 02 - 205

Project

for

Drawing Title

Date

Job No Drawing No Revision

Scale

Proposed Site Layout

This document is the copyright work of Key Land
Estates ltd. unless formally assigned in writing

14 Ilges Lane
Cholsey Ox10 9NX

K1852

22/02/2019

P L A N N I N G

Park Office - Unit 1B
Monument Business Park

Warpsgrove Lane - Chalgrove
Oxfordshire. OX44  7RW

T: +44(0)1865 689 444

T: +44(0)7968 031139

pburman@keylandestates.co.uk
mhester@keylandestates.co.uk

www.keylandestates.co.uk

 Aarrhus Developments

Status

24
2216

37
29 31

12

ILGES LANE
1

2

2A

51
.3

8

51
.1

0

50
.8

4

50
.6

2

50
.3

2

50
.1

4

50.08

50.23

50
.2

7

50.22

50.26

50.29

50.20

50.16

50.12

49.99

50.07

50.11

50.07

50.01

49.96

49.95

49.97

50.01

50.26

50.40

50.45

50.56

50.48

50.38

51.42

51.39

51.37

50.49

50.59

50.64

50.78

50.72

50.64

51.69

51
.4

6

51
.35

51
.28 51.21

53
.9

7

49.97

52.59

55.65

50.30

54.30

51.94

56
.9

8

SV

MH CL

Gully

51.34

EPLP

Sta
y

EP

T.D.M
MH CL = 50.00m

Close board fence h=1.85

Close board fence h=1.85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

Shingle

IC CL 51.60      IL 50.00

Metal railing fence h=1
Metal railing fence h=1

Hedging h=1

SV

SV

Watermeter

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

DPC level

He
dg

ing
 a

ve
 h

=2

Garage

No.12

No.31

No.35

No.37

No.16

Pu
bl

ic
 F

oo
tp

at
h

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

Ridge level

Eaves level

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

55
.6

7
Ri

dg
e 

le
ve

l

55.43Ridge level

52.59

Eaves level

52.59Eaves level

56.80

Ridge level

58
.3

5

54
.9

2

Ea
ve

s l
ev

el

59.21Ridge level

56.85

Eaves level

DPC level

Roof level

56.99

Eaves level

54.41

Roof level

52.04

DPC level

57
.4

7

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

54
.4

4
Ro

of
 le

ve
l

51
.2

8
M

H 
C

L

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

Grass

W
all

Wall

Drive

Chain link fence
strainer post

strainer post

ILGES LANE

Bath

en
suite

Bed 2

w

Bed 1

ac

w

Bed 1

w

Bed 3

Bed 2

ac

Bath
st

en
suite

w

Bed 1

Bed 2
Bed 4

Bed 3
Bath

en
suite

ac

w
w

st

w

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

4 Bed

3 Bed

2 Bed

North
ew

s

Scale Bars - shown in metres

Proposed Site  Plan 1:100 @ A1
1 80

1:100 @ A1  1: 200 @ A3
2 64

Showing First Floor

1:100 @ A1 - 1:200 @ A3

A    Feb 19   Scheme Revisions

B

B   22-02-19  Planning Issue

P
age 21



Rev Date Notes

K1872 - 02 - 206

Project

for

Drawing Title

Date

Job No Drawing No Revision

Scale

Site Layout

This document is the copyright work of Key Land
Estates ltd. unless formally assigned in writing

14 Ilges Lane
Cholsey Ox10 9NX

K1852

22/02/2019

P L A N N I N G

Park Office - Unit 1B
Monument Business Park

Warpsgrove Lane - Chalgrove
Oxfordshire. OX44  7RW

T: +44(0)1865 689 444

T: +44(0)7968 031139

pburman@keylandestates.co.uk
mhester@keylandestates.co.uk

www.keylandestates.co.uk

 Aarrhus Developments

Status

24
2216

37
29 31

12

ILGES LANE
1

2

2A

51
.3

8

51
.1

0

50
.8

4

50
.6

2

50
.3

2

50
.1

4

50.08

50.23

50
.2

7

50.22

50.26

50.29

50.20

50.16

50.12

49.99

50.07

50.11

50.07

50.01

49.96

49.95

49.97

50.01

50.26

50.40

50.45

50.56

50.48

50.38

51.42

51.39

51.37

50.49

50.59

50.64

50.78

50.72

50.64

51.69

51
.4

6

51
.35

51
.28 51.21

53
.9

7

49.97

52.59

55.65

50.30

54.30

51.94

56
.9

8

SV

MH CL

Gully

51.34

EPLP

Sta
y

EP

T.D.M
MH CL = 50.00m

Close board fence h=1.85

Close board fence h=1.85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

C
lo

se
 b

oa
rd

 fe
nc

e 
h=

1.
85

Shingle

IC CL 51.60      IL 50.00

Metal railing fence h=1
Metal railing fence h=1

Hedging h=1

SV

SV

Watermeter

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

Drop kerb

DPC level

He
dg

ing
 a

ve
 h

=2

Garage

No.12

No.31

No.35

No.37

No.16

Pu
bl

ic
 F

oo
tp

at
h

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

E

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

T

Ridge level

Eaves level

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

Ro
of

 le
ve

l

55
.6

7
Ri

dg
e 

le
ve

l

55.43Ridge level

52.59

Eaves level

52.59Eaves level

56.80

Ridge level

58
.3

5

54
.9

2

Ea
ve

s l
ev

el

59.21Ridge level

56.85

Eaves level

DPC level

Roof level

56.99

Eaves level

54.41

Roof level

52.04

DPC level

57
.4

7

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

54
.4

4
Ro

of
 le

ve
l

51
.2

8
M

H 
C

L

Ri
dg

e 
le

ve
l

Grass

W
all

Wall

Drive

Chain link fence
strainer post

strainer post

ILGES LANE

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

4 Bed

3 Bed

2 Bed

North
ew

s

Scale Bars - shown in metres

Proposed Site  Plan 1:100 @ A1
1 80

1:100 @ A1  1: 200 @ A3
2 64

Showing Building to be demolished

1:100 @ A1 - 1:200 @ A3

Legend

Existing Bungalow
and garage to be
demolished

A    Feb 19   Scheme Revisions

B

B   22-02-19  Planning Issue

P
age 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0358/FUL & P19/S0359/LB
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION & LISTED BUILDING
REGISTERED 7.2.2019
PARISH BERRICK SALOME
WARD MEMBER(S) David Turner
APPLICANT WH Brakspear and Sons Ltd
SITE The Chequers Inn Berrick Salome, OX10 6JN
PROPOSAL Internal and external alterations to listed public 

house including extension to existing car park. As 
amended by plan 1702/04/D received 23 April, 2019 
altering the design of the front porch.

OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 These applications were deferred from the meeting on 12 June in order that Members 

could visit the site. 

1.2 These applications have been referred to Planning Committee as they were called in 
to Planning committee by the local Member, David Turner, if the applications were 
recommended for the refusal.

1.3 The Chequers is a grade II listed public house which lies within the Berrick Salome 
Conservation area. It was built in the early mid-18th century as a pub and has 
remained a key focus of social life in the area ever since, as well as a visually 
prominent addition to the historic village of Berrick Prior.

1.4 The inn is located at the junction of Hollantide Bottom with Chalgrove/Ewelme Road in 
Berrick Salome and is identified on the Ordnance Survey extract attached as 
Appendix 1.

1.5 The building has been extended to the rear and reconfigured during the 20th century. 
Elements of its early plan, however still remain, making its historic form as an inn and 
gradual evolution into the existing facility readable.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This proposal seeks full planning permission and listed building consent for the 

following:

 To swap the dining and bar areas over. 
 To relocate the bar, back to an earlier location. 
 To swap the existing cellar and customer toilets over so that the cellar backs 

onto the relocated bar (this was also a former position for the cellar).
 To provide separate access to the residential accommodation at first floor via a 

set of steps to the rear so that the existing domestic staircase can be removed 
from the bar customer area.

 To extend the existing modern kitchen extension by 3 metres so that cold room 
storage can be provided within the kitchen area.

 To rebuild the entrance porch from the road facing elevation.
  Extend the existing car park to provide 24 spaces plus 2 disabled spaces.

Page 23

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0358/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the applications are attached as Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Berrick Salome Parish Council – Approve. Fully Supports this application for the 
following reasons.
 

a) The Parish Council and our parishioners see the Chequers as a hugely 
important part of our community and understand the need to ensure the 
business is viable going forward and also recognise the importance of having 
appropriate accommodation for the family of the tenants. We see that in its 
current layout these requirements are not met and that this application looks to 
address this. 

b) Additionally, the current operation of the Chequers generates significant parking 
issues for local residents at times as the existing car park is not large enough to 
meet the parking requirement during busy periods for the business. The 
additional parking provided within the application is welcomed in helping 
address this issue and we would also ask that SODC be sure and satisfied that 
the new parking capacity is at an appropriate level for the reconfigured layout. 

c) Fully Supports For these reasons we trust the district council will approve these 
proposed changes and ensure that the pub can continue to operate as a valued 
business and as an important part of our village life.

OCC (Archaeology) - No objection 

Conservation Officer –

 Proposed relocation of the customer WCs – No objection 
 Proposed extension to the existing C20 rear extension – No objection 
 Replacement of front porch – Objection regarding design- Amended plan. No 

objection to porch subject to conditions relating to joinery and paint finish
 Removal of internal staircase – Objection – this represents a fairly high level of 

less than substantial harm to the significance of the listed building which fails to 
preserve or enhance the special historic and architectural interest of the building 
contrary to Sec 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990.

 New external staircase at the rear of the building – Objection The insertion of a 
door at this level would interrupt the pattern of fenestration on this part of the 
building. It would also require the removal of the original stone walling below the 
window sill. The enclosed panelled section leading to this now proposed is a flat 
roofed section projecting over the dual pitched roof of a C20th extension. This 
addition would appear particularly incongruous within the context of what have 
been modest and traditionally detailed additions to the rear of the building.

Historic England – objection to the removal of the internal staircase. Concern 
regarding erection of new external staircase.

We have concerns about the proposal to remove the only staircase in the building and 
instead provide access to the upper floor externally. Whilst some of the staircase fabric 
may not be original, its significance lies in its position within the plan of the historic 
building which is likely to be its original location. Removing this central element of the 
historic plan would irrevocably alter the feel and flow of the building and would harm its 
significance. Furthermore, introducing an external staircase instead is likely to look a 

Page 24

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

little odd. We recognise the applicant’s interest in reinstating the bar to a slightly earlier 
position and better integrating the granary room, but we would rather see a design 
which looks for creative solutions to opening up the interior of the pub with less impact 
on irreplaceable historic forms, retaining the staircase as a key, readable part of the 
building’s history. 

OCC (Highways) - No objection 

Countryside Officer  - No objection subject to the addition of the detailed bat 
informative

Neighbour Approve (1) But ask for additional parking 

Neighbour No Strong Views (3) Overall support the goal of this planning application to 
provide a framework for a commercially viable pub in the centre of our village. We do 
see the pub as an asset to the local community. Concern regarding insufficient parking 
spaces leading to parking on verges, parking close to Green Lane causing reduced 
visibility to drivers and cars having to swerve on the verges.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S3756/LB - Withdrawn (18/01/2019)

Internal and external alterations.

P18/S3755/FUL - Withdrawn (18/01/2019)
Internal and external alterations.

P17/S1677/DIS - Approved (20/06/2017)
Discharge of Conditions 4.(Landscaping) 5.(Arboricultural Method Statement) on 
planning application P17/S0218/FUL

P17/S0218/FUL - Approved (20/03/2017)
Re-organisation of parking area
New freestanding store / office to back garden
New pergola and paving to north-east elevation

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN3 -  Historic environment
CSQ3 -  Design
CSS1 -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies:

C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
CF1  - safeguarding community facilities and services including recreation facilities
CON2  -  Extensions to listed buildings
CON3  -  Alteration to listed building
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

Page 25

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3756/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3755/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1677/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0218/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan policies; 
Berrick Salome Parish Council is working on creating a neighbourhood plan and the 
draft plan has been submitted to the District Council. Comments from the local 
community and statutory consultees runs from 15 April to 5 June.

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extend to unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF

The Plan has not yet reached a sufficiently advanced stage where it can be given 
significant weight. 

BER2 Design
BER7 Community facilities

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS for P19/S0358/FUL
6.1 The key considerations for the planning application are:

 Impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area;
 Impact on the setting of the listed building;
 Impact on parking;
 Impact on neighbours; and
 CIL.

Internal alterations do not require planning permission 

6.2
6.3

6.4

6.5

Impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area.
The conservation area is a designated heritage asset. Section 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention be paid 
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2018) reflects this requirement, stating 
that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.

Paragraph 195 of the NPPF (2018) requires that planning permission should be refused 
if there is substantial harm or the total loss of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 
196 of the NPPF establishes that where the harm is less than substantial that any harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal

CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that conservation areas will be conserved and 
enhanced and that proposals that affect non-designated historic assets will be 
considered taking account of the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset.

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

CON7 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development in a conservation area does not 
harm the character and appearance of the area; that the design and scale of the new 
work is in sympathy with the established character of the area and that traditional 
materials are used whenever appropriate.

The alterations which have the potential to impact on the character and appearance of 
the conservation area are the front porch, the rear extension and the external staircase 
with the flat roofed section.

Front porch. When originally submitted, the design of the replacement porch was not 
considered appropriate as some of the detailing was considered a little heavy and a 
more elegant flat roofed porch was suggested by your officers. An amended plan was 
submitted and there is no longer an objection to this part of the proposal as it is not 
considered to adversely affect the character or appearance of the conservation area.

Rear extension. The proposed rear extension to the existing kitchen would be to an 
existing C20 rear extension. It would be single storey only and built using traditional 
materials. The council’s conservation officer has not raised an objection to this part of 
the proposal and it is not considered to adversely affect the character or appearance of 
the conservation area.

Rear staircase. The new external stair to the rear of the building would access the 
building at first floor level. The insertion of a door at this level would interrupt the pattern 
of fenestration on this part of the building  and  would also require the removal of the 
original stone walling below the window sill. The enclosed panelled section leading to 
this flat roofed section would project over the dual pitched roof of a C20 extension. This 
addition would appear particularly incongruous within the context of what have been 
modest and traditionally detailed additions to the rear of the building. This part of the 
proposal is considered to adversely affect the character and appearance of the 
conservation area contrary to policy CSEN3 of the SOCS and policy CON7 of the 
SOLP and to advice within the NPPF.

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

Impact on the setting of the listed building.
Listed buildings are designated heritage assets. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that, in considering whether to 
grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, 
the local planning authority have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses. 

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2018) reflects this requirement, stating that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether 
any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm 
to its significance. 

The NPPF advises that proposals which preserve the setting of heritage assets should 
be treated favourably. Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS reflects this aim and seeks to ensure 
that the setting of the district’s designated historic assets be conserved and enhanced. 
Policy CON5 of the SOLP advises that development which would adversely affect the 
setting of a listed building will be refused. 

In this case, the proposed extensions to the building are attached to the listed building 
and would not adversely affect the setting of the listed building. They are however, 

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

considered to harm the character of the listed building and this is referred to later in the 
report in considering the listed building application. 

6.15

6.16

Impact on parking 
Policy T2 requires all developments to provide adequate parking provision. The existing 
car park has a gravel surface and can accommodate approximately 14 cars. Individual 
parking spaces are not marked out. The proposal includes an extension to the car park 
to provide 24 car parking spaces and 2 disabled spaces. (This car park extension was 
approved under planning ref P17/S0218/FUL but has not been implemented.) The 
County Highway Authority has raised no objection to the proposal on highway grounds. 
They have commented that the proposal is unlikely to result in any significant 
intensification of transport activity on the site or have any adverse impact on the 
highway network.  

Some local residents have commented that the existing car park is not big enough and 
results in cars parking on the highway which results in highway safety issues. The 
agent has confirmed that the proposed internal reconfiguration of the pub would not 
result in any additional covers. As such the additional parking spaces would improve 
the existing parking situation and address the concerns of local residents.

6.17 Impact on neighbours
Any extension to a building should not adversely affect the residential amenity of 
neighbours. The proposed rear extension would extend the existing modern kitchen 
extension by 3 metres so that cold room storage can be provided within the kitchen 
area. The single storey extension would not have any adverse impact on the amenity of 
neighbours by way of overlooking or by being oppressive or overbearing. The proposed 
rear staircase and access to first floor is unlikely to result in any material loss of 
amenity. No objections from neighbours in relation to this part of the proposal has been 
received.

6.18 Community Infrastructure Levy
This proposal is not CIL liable.

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS for P19/S0359/LB
7.1 The key considerations for the listed building consent application which relates to 

internal and alterations are:

 Impact on the historic fabric of the listed building;
 Impact on the special character of the listed building; and
 Impact on the setting of the listed building.

7.2

7.3

Impact on the historic fabric of the grade II listed building and its character 
All the listed buildings are designated heritage assets. Section 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that, in considering 
whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or 
its setting, the local planning authority have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2018) reflects this requirement, stating that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or 
less than substantial harm to its significance. 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

7.4

7.5

7.6

Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that conservation areas and listed 
buildings will be conserved and enhanced for their historic significance and their 
important contribution to local distinctiveness, character and sense of place

Policy CON2 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that any extension to a listed building must 
be appropriate to its character, must be sympathetic to the original structure in design, 
scale and materials and must not dominate or overwhelm it. Policy CON3 of the SOLP 
seeks to ensure that any alteration to a listed building must respect its established 
character and not diminish the special historical or architectural qualities which make it 
worthy of inclusion on the statutory list. 

The proposed works to the listed building include:

a) Replacement porch  In its revised form, the proposed porch extension is 
modest and is an appropriate solution architecturally which preserves the 
architectural interest of the building. It would not result in unacceptable harm to 
the listed building or its character. The council’s conservation has no objection 
to the proposed porch in its amended form. 

b) Rear extension The proposed rear extension to the existing kitchen is modest 
in scale and would affect a C20 structure and would not harm historic fabric of 
the listed building or its special character. No objection is being raised to this 
part of the proposal by either the council’s conservation officer or Historic 
England.

c) Rear staircase The proposed new external stair to the rear of the building 
would involve inserting a door at first floor. This would interrupt the pattern of 
fenestration on this part of the building and would require the removal of the 
original stone walling below the window sill resulting in the loss of historic fabric 
of the building.  The enclosed panelled section leading to this is a flat roofed 
section projecting over the dual pitched roof of a C20 extension. This would 
appear incongruous within the context of what have been modest and 
traditionally detailed additions to the rear of the building. This part of the 
proposal would harm the historic fabric and character of the listed building 
contrary to policy CSEN3 of the SOCS and policy CON3 of the SOLP and to 
advice within the NPPF. The council’s conservation officer has objected to this 
part of the proposal and Historic England have referred to it as potentially 
looking “odd”,

d) Removal of internal staircase   This part of the proposal is the most 
contentious. The applicant wishes to remove the internal stair case for the 
following reasons:

i. The staircase is hampering the current efficient use of the building making 
the former lounge bar and granary customer areas feel remote and cut off

ii. To enable reconfiguration of the existing layout of the pub. This would 
involve swapping the dining and bar areas over so that the existing 
underused granary room can become a vibrant well integrated part of the 
pub. It is currently underused.

iii. To enable direct access from the front of the building into the bar rather than 
negotiate a 90 degree turn in a tight lobby area at the base of the staircase.

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

7.7

7.8

7.9

7.10

7.11

7.12

7.13

iv. To enable the landlord and his family to have an independent access to the 
first-floor accommodation by removing the existing staircase and providing a 
new external staircase to the rear. This new access would also provide 
direct access for the family to a secure rear garden.

These works would, in your officers’ view result in unacceptable loss of historic fabric 
and historic form which would adversely affect the character of the listed building.

The conservation officer and English Heritage have objected to this proposal. The 
concern is that the plan or layout of a building can tell us about how a building was 
used historically, and it also gives a building its character. Staircases form an integral 
part of a building’s plan form and their positioning and design has evolved over time. 

The overall character of the building is firmly that of the C18. The formal arrangement 
of openings on the frontage, the interior fireplaces and the direct relationship of the 
staircase to what was a central front door with flanking rooms is the design of a building 
of this date. The heritage statement suggests that the building had historically operated 
as an inn providing overnight accommodation which would account for why access to 
the stairs could have been obtained from the front entrance and public rooms on the 
ground floor.

Some modern coverings have been removed from the staircase which has established 
that much of the structure comprises later softwood with some reused elements 
possibly from the earlier stair. Whilst the stair does appear to be a later replacement, it 
is in its original position. The staircase is supported between two solid walls which 
although not investigated in detail appear to be historic and are presumably original 
structural walls given that the ceiling beams bear directly into these walls. The ceiling 
beams are at their original lengths as indicated by the presence of chamfered stops 
and the conservation officer is therefore confident that the current arrangement of 
rooms in this immediate area is the original configuration.

Although the staircase itself comprises limited historic material, its presence adds to the 
significance of the listed building in terms of character and plan form. The walls do 
appear to be historic and would be demolished. The loss of historic fabric, loss of 
original plan form and the alteration to an open plan space would be harmful to the 
significance of the listed building. It is also of concern that the proposed works would 
leave the historic part of the building without any staircase and without sufficient 
evidence to suggest where the staircase had been historically. Details of the structural 
works required to support the ceiling beams once the walls have been removed has not 
been provided but is likely to consist of a heavy intervention comprising the insertion of 
steel beams and new posts.

The harm posed to the significance of the listed building by the removal of the internal 
staircase and walls is less than substantial in the terms set out within the NPPF. 
Paragraph 196 states that less than substantial harm should be set against the public 
benefits of a proposal. 

In this case, the applicant is saying that the removal of the staircase is required to 
enable improved circulation within the existing building as the existing stairs result in 
the back rooms of the building beyond the stairs being disconnected to the main area of 
the building and as a result are underutilised which is affecting the viability of the 
business. An additional benefit is to improve access from the front of the building 
directly into the bar area and to provide the landlord and his family with a separate 
access to their first-floor accommodation. 

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

7.14

7.15

It is understood by your officers why it would be desirable commercially to remove the 
staircase. They are however, unconvinced that the viability of the pub is so undermined 
by the current arrangement that it would justify the harm that would be posed by the 
removal of the staircase and the construction of a new external staircase.

It is your officers’ opinion that the proposal fails to preserve and or enhance the special 
historic and architectural interest of the building and is contrary to Sec 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as the harm is not 
outweighed by the public benefit and viability argument put forward by the applicant. It 
would also be contrary to policy CSEN3 of the SOCS and to policy CON3 of the SOLP.

7.16

7.17

7.18

Impact on the setting of the listed building
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
that, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects 
a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

The NPPF advises that proposals which preserve the setting of heritage assets should 
be treated favourably. Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that the setting of 
the district’s designated historic assets be conserved and enhanced. Policy CON5 of 
the SOLP advises that development which would adversely affect the setting of a listed 
building will be refused. 

In this case the proposed works are either internal works or ones which are physically 
attached to the listed building. As such, they would not have any material impact on the 
setting of the grade II listed building in your officers’ opinion 

8.0
8.1

CONCLUSION for P19/S0358/FUL
The proposed single storey rear extension and replacement front porch would not harm 
the character and appearance of the conservation area or the character of the listed 
building and would not be unneighbourly. The proposed rear staircase and the platform 
necessary to use it would detract from the character of the listed building.  

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION for P19/S0359/LB
The proposed external staircase and the removal of the internal staircase and walls 
would result in unacceptable loss of historic fabric of the listed building and is not 
outweighed by public benefits as per the NPPF (paragraph 196).  The works would 
adversely affect the special character of the listed building by removing an integral part 
of the building’s plan form. Whilst the stair does appear to be a later replacement, it is in 
its original position and its loss would be irrevocably alter the feel and flow of the 
building and would harm its significance. 

10.0
10.1

RECOMMENDATION for P19/S0358/FUL
That planning permission is refused for the following reason:

1. The proposed external stair case to the rear of the building would involve the 
insertion of a door at first floor level which would interrupt the pattern of 
fenestration on this part of the building. It would also require the removal of the 
original stone walling below the window sill. This, together with the associated 
enclosed panelled section would appear incongruous within the context of what 
have been modest and traditionally detailed additions to the rear. As such it 
would adversely affect the character of the listed building contrary to policy 
CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and saved policy CON2 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan and to advice within the NPPF

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 3 July 2019

11.0
11.1

RECOMMENDATION for P19/S0359/LB
That listed building consent is refused for the following reasons:

1.The removal of the staircase and walls represents a high level of less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the listed building and is not sufficiently 
outweighed by public benefits as required by paragraph 196 of the NPPF. This 
means that the proposal fails to preserve or enhance the special historic and 
architectural interest of the building and is contrary to Sec 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The works would also be 
contrary to policy CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, saved policies 
CON2 and CON3 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and to advice within the 
NPPF.

2. The proposed external stair case to the rear of the building would involve the 
insertion of a door at first floor level which would interrupt the pattern of 
fenestration on this part of the building. It would also require the removal of the 
original stone walling below the window sill. This, together with the associated 
enclosed panelled section would appear incongruous within the context of what 
have been modest and traditionally detailed additions to the rear. As such this 
part of the proposal would result in unacceptable loss of historic fabric and 
would adversely affect the character of the listed building contrary to policy 
CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and saved policies CON2 and 
CON3 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and to advice within the NPPF.
  

Author:        Kim Gould

Contact No: 01235 422600

e-mail:          planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 32

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



Appendix 2

P
age 34



P
age 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0171/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 23.1.2019
PARISH SOUTH STOKE
WARD MEMBER(S)  Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Annington Development Limited
SITE Land at Woodcote Road South Stoke, RG8 0JJ
PROPOSAL Reserved matters application (for the appearance, 

landscaping, layout, and scale) following Outline 
approval P17/S3206/O for a residential development 
of up to 5 dwellings, and associated works, including 
access. 

In addition to discharge conditions 5- landscaping, 
6- tree protection, 7- biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement strategy, 11- construction traffic 
management, 13- refuse and recycling storage and 
16- construction method statement.

OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 

Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
housing mix, design and landscape impact). The application was deferred from the 
meeting on 22 May 2019 to allow Members of the Committee an opportunity to visit the 
site

1.2 The site is to the south of Woodcote Road on the edge of South Stoke.  Appendices 1 
and 2 provide a site location and context plan.  South Stoke is a small village between 
Wallingford and Goring, and sits within the River Thames corridor that runs to the west 
of the village.  The village and application site are washed over by the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), but there are no other planning designations or 
constraints that affect the site.   

1.3 Outline planning permission was granted by Planning Committee in January 2018 for 
the erection of up to 5 dwellings. All matters were kept in reserve except for details of 
the site access that were approved through the outline planning permission. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal seeks to secure approval of the remaining reserved matters for 

appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale. Details have also been submitted to 
partially discharge several conditions of the outline permission. 

2.2 The reserved matters details have been submitted for the construction of 5 detached 
and semi-detached dwellings comprising:

 Plot 1 –3 bedroom detached with integral double garage (north-west area of the 
site);

 Plot 2 – 2 bedroom semi-detached (north-east area of the site);
 Plot 3 – 3 bedroom semi-detached (north-east area of the site);

Page 43

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0171/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

 Plot 4 – 4 bedroom detached with integral double garage (south-west area of 
the site); and

 Plot 5 – 5 bedroom detached with integral double garage (south-east area of the 
site). 

2.3 The houses would be of varied design generally finished with contemporary 
architectural features using predominantly facing brick and timber cladding for the walls 
with a mixture of clay and slate tile roofs. Windows and doors would be installed in a 
grey composite with some timber framing in a modern design. The external parking and 
turning areas would be a mixture of gravel, block paving and flagstones. The site would 
be enclosed along the northern, eastern and southern intervening boundaries by a 
mixture of retained mature trees, new native hedging and post and 1.2 metre high post 
and rail fences. The western intervening boundary (shared with neighbouring 
residential properties) would comprise a 1.8 metre high timber close board fence with 
native tree and hedge planting within the site. 

2.4 Details have also been submitted to discharge the following conditions:
 5- landscaping (details of hard-surfacing and planting);
 6- tree protection; 
 7- biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy;  
 11- construction traffic management;
 13- refuse and recycling storage; 
 14- fire hydrants; and 
 16- construction method statement.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 South Stoke Parish Council – Objection.

 The dwellings to the front of the site are so close to the tree line that full root 
protection measure cannot be utilised. 

 Plot 4 is closer and more overbearing on Clogwyn Mawr than previously shown 
as a result of the larger footprint houses, blocking out all sun for significant parts 
of the year. Inspection of the plans submitted for this application show Glazed 
door to garage of Plot 4 and inconsistencies between plan and elevations on 
plot 4 facing bungalow Clogwyn Mawr and a window overlooking the bungalow.

 The proposal requires the removal of the tree at the entrance. This was raised 
by the forestry officer at the time of the outline application but was assured that 
the tree would not be further impacted than at present. The tree in question has 
been removed, prior to any approval of planning application. TPOs must be put 
on the tree screen protect the future of the AONB. 

 The houses are shown as circa 9m high which will have an unnecessary impact 
on the view from the AONB, 7m would be sufficient for 1.5 storey houses which 
would be more in keeping with the surrounding houses in South Stoke Village

 This building footprint does not reflect a rural layout of houses on this edge of 
village location within the AONB, the revised footprint is greatly increased over 
and above the plans in P17/S3206/O.

 Housing need over-provides 4-plus bedroom homes. Reduction in size of 
homes would ease building footprint issues. SSPC conducted a Housing Needs 
Survey in Summer 2017, this showed a need for 2 and 3 bedroom homes, with 
no need for 4 or 5 bedroom homes. A subsequent Housing Needs survey is 
currently being conducted, the results of which are being analysed at the time of 
submission. 

 This area has glow worms, no mitigation has been provided for the protection of 
these in the current application.

Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

OCC Archaeological Services – No objection.
 There are currently no known archaeological constraints to this development.

Countryside Officer  – No objection.
 The habitats on site are not considered to be a constraint to development and 

boundary trees are to be retained, with additional planting proposed. 
 The ecological surveys found no evidence of any protected species on site, and 

recommendations are made for working methods and faunal enhancements to 
the site. 

 As such, on balance and subject to the recommended condition below, I am 
satisfied that the proposed development would not adversely impact any priority

 habitats or any protected species, and would not result in a net loss of 
biodiversity resource.

 Monitoring condition is recommended. 

Drainage – Holding objection. 
 Additional information originally requested to satisfy outline condition no. 8 but, 

discharge of drainage details subsequently withdrawn by the applicant as further 
investigation is required. 

 
Forestry Officer – No Objection.
 Some initial concern was raised over the tree data in the original survey being 

inaccurate. A revised tree survey was submitted, and it was accepted that the 
proposed layout would allow sufficient space for the existing trees to be 
protected and retained and to accommodate their future growth potential. 

 The proposed landscaping scheme will help to secure the long-term tree cover 
around the perimeters of the site. The amount of hard surfacing proposed 
internally within the development seems excessive, but the amount of proposed 
planting will go some way to soften it. If the extent of hard surfacing could be 
reduced an improved landscaping scheme could be achieved. 

 For any changes in the layout, amended tree protection information will be 
needed.

OCC Highways Liaison Officer– No response. 

Neighbour responses – four letters of objection have been received from third parties 
living in proximity to the site. Objections raised are summarised as follows:
 Plot 4 adjacent to the neighbouring house at Clogwyn Mawr would be too close 

to the neighbouring boundary and would cause a loss of light, loss of outlook 
and loss of privacy. It would be overbearing and the house should be moved 
further away from the boundary, be screened by a more natural boundary 
enclosure and be a bungalow (or one and a half storey building). Any windows 
facing the neighbouring property should be obscured;

 The outline planning approval does not mean that there has to be 5 homes. At 
outline stage it was indicated that a lesser number of homes may need to be 
considered if the proposed plans materially impact the amenity of neighbouring 
properties. There is a strong case for this when considering the impact on 
Clogwyn Mawr.

 The housing mix has changed since the outline planning stage with the 
developer pressing for larger homes than was previously proposed. The Parish 
Council has identified an urgent need for two bedroom homes. There is no 
evidence that the developer has consulted with the Parish Council or local 
community in this regard and the proposal and does not reflect village needs.

 Several prominent and healthy trees have been felled (in breach of the outline 
planning permission) and greater protection needs to be given to the remaining 

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

tree line in order to protect the aider AONB. This is especially important as there 
is only limited protection of the trees beyond the development phase. There is 
nothing at present to stop a subsequent purchaser of a property from removing 
trees to improve views or to increase the amount of sunlight into that property. 
Preservation of the treeline was a material consideration of the South Stoke 
Parish Council during the outline planning stage.  

 The proposed designs do not reflect the small rural village character of the 
surroundings. The design appears to be based on similar sized sites in larger 
villages and urban areas rather than small villages. Design cues would be better 
taken from recent developments within the village and single level or 1.5 level 
dwellings would be more in keeping with the adjacent homes and wider village.    

 No regard has been had to key requirements of the Chilterns Building Design 
Guide, which should be a material consideration for developments on AONB 
sites such as this. 

 The site would be an extension of the village into the AONB. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S3206/O - Approved (18/01/2018)

Residential development (up to 5 dwellings), and associated works, including 
access.(as amplified & amended by information received 13 November 2017).

P86/W0322/O - Refused (07/07/1986)
Single dwelling with garage; access.

P72/H0133 - Refused (16/10/1972)
Site for dwellinghouse to be used in conjunction with the land as an agricultural holding.

P56/H0351 - Approved (27/07/1956)
Site for dwellinghouse to be used in conjunction with the land as an agricultural holding.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan:

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations. The council’s adopted 
development plan comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the 
saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP).

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies:
 CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – Overall strategy;
 CSEN1 – Landscape;
 CSH4 – Meeting housing needs;
 CSR1 – Housing in villages; 
 CSQ3 – Quality of design;
 CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 C4 – The landscape setting of settlements;
 C6 – Biodiversity conservation;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features;

Page 46

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3206/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P86/W0322/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P72/H0133
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P56/H0351


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

 D1 – Quality of design;
 D2 – Vehicle and cycle parking;
 D3 – Plot coverage and garden areas;
 D4 – Privacy and daylight;
 D10 – Waste management;
 EP1 – Polluting emissions;
 EP2 – Noise and vibrations;
 EP3 – Light pollution;
 EP6 – Surface water management;
 G2 - Protection and enhancement of the environment;
 G4 – Development in the countryside and on the edge of settlements;
 H4 – Housing in villages;
 T1 and T2 – Transport requirements for new developments. 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan:
 South Stoke Parish Council are currently not preparing a neighbourhood plan. 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

5.4 National Planning Policy:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.5 Third party guidance:
 South Stoke Housing Developments - Development Survey Analysis & 

Implications;
 South Stoke Housing Survey – July/August 2017;
 Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019;
 Chilterns Building Design Guide (February 2010);
 Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 (November 2017).

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The outline planning permission granted in January 2018 (ref: P17/S3206/O) has 

established both the principle of the residential development (for up to five dwellings) 
and the location and design of the site access. As such, there is no requirement for me 
to re-assess the principle of the development. The main issues to take into account are 
as follows:

 Whether the reserved matters details comply with the parameters of the 
development established at outline stage;

 Assessment of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale with 
regards to:
- The impact on the special character of the AONB;
- The character and appearance of the site and street scene;
- Provision of parking and turning areas;
- Impact on neighbouring amenities.

 Assessment of the details submitted to partially discharge the relevant 
conditions (not assessed in line with the reserved matters):
- Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy;  
- Construction management;
- Refuse and recycling storage. 

Page 47



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

6.2 Compliance with outline planning permission
The reserved matters are for the construction of 5 dwellings (three detached and a pair 
of semi-detached buildings). Conditions 3 and 4 of the outline planning permission 
sought to restrict the maximum number of dwellings to be constructed to five and also 
sought to secure an appropriate market housing mix. The detailed scheme is for five 
dwellings with a mixture of 1 no. 2-bedroom dwelling, 2 no. 3-bedroom dwellings, 1 no. 
4-bedroom dwelling and 1 no. 5-bedroom dwelling. 

6.3 The scheme is not considered to be of a large enough scale to be required (by policy) 
to provide dedicated affordable units (and as such no conditions or legal agreements 
were sought at outline planning stage). At outline planning stage an indicative housing 
mix was put forward (2 2-beds, 1 3-bed and 2 4+ bedroom dwellings). The proposed 
housing mix differs from the indicative mix given at outline stage and I note a number of 
objections to this (particularly with regards to the lack of dedicated affordable units). 
Condition 4 attached to the outline permission sought to secure only an ‘appropriate 
market housing mix’, with no links to local needs, district wide needs or specific 
numbers of house types. SOCS policy CSH4 defines a broad approach to housing mix 
but, does not place specific requirements on small-scale developments. Therefore I 
must rely on other evidence available to me. 

6.4 I have had regards to the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), 
the South Stoke Housing Developments - Development Survey Analysis & Implications 
(SSHD) and the South Stoke Housing Survey – July/August 2017 (SSHS) as the latest 
evidence of housing need in the area. Whilst I note the Parish Council’s objection, the 
evidence within the SSHD and SSHS does not entirely support the need for solely 
smaller units in the village. The 2017 SSHS suggests there are local residents who 
would be interested in upsizing and downsizing. The earlier SSHD also illustrates 
greater support for smaller/starter homes and family homes with less local support for 
larger houses to be provided but, the definitions of what constitute ‘family homes’ or 
‘larger homes’ are not clear. The proposal does present a mixture of housing types that 
would appear to suit the broad needs of the area. Given the small-scale of the scheme I 
consider the current proposal represents an appropriate market housing mix and I have 
no strong evidence to reach an alternative conclusion. 

6.5 Overall, I consider the proposal is within the parameters established at outline planning 
permission stage and does not conflict with current planning policy relating to housing 
mix. 

6.6
Impact on the special character of the AONB
The site is within the Chilterns AONB which, in planning policy terms, secures the 
highest level of landscape protection (NPPF para.172). The AONB is a predominantly 
rural area defined by its high level of scenic beauty and tranquil rural character. New 
development is strictly controlled, particularly where there would be adverse impacts on 
the landscape and character of the area. SOCS policy CSEN1(ii) states that high 
priority will be given to conservation and enhancement of the Chilterns and North
Wessex Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and planning decisions 
will have regard to their setting

6.7 Within the South Oxfordshire Landscape Character Assessment (2017) (LCA) the 
village of South Stoke is defined as being within the River Thames Corridor (Flat 
floodplain pasture character sub-area) with the open countryside to the east of the 
village as within the Central Vale Fringes (Open rolling downs sub-area). The site is 
currently open field although bounded by mature trees and shrubs. The countryside to 
the east and north is very open with sparse field boundaries. At outline planning stage 
the officer’s view was that the proposal would not result in significant landscape harm, 

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

subject to appropriate conditions, as the proposal made use of an existing well-
screened parcel of land. It was also stated that future reserved matters submissions 
should follow the broad recommendations of the draft LCA. 

6.8 For the River Thames Corridor character area, the LCA recommends the following:

 Minimise the visual impact of intrusive land uses at the fringes of towns, villages 
and farms with the judicious planting of tree and shrub species characteristic of 
the area. This will help to screen the development and integrate it more 
successfully with its surrounding countryside;

 Maintain the nucleated pattern of settlements, and promote the use of building 
materials to maintain vernacular style and a scale of development and that are 
appropriate to River Thames Corridor (see also the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide, November 2016);

 Protect the sparsely settled character of the landscape and the integrity and 
vernacular character of the estate villages.

The LCA recommends the following for the Central Vale Fringes character area:

 Minimise the visual impact of intrusive land uses at the fringes of towns and 
villages with the judicious planting of tree and shrub species characteristic of the 
area. This will help to screen the development and integrate it more successfully 
with its surrounding countryside;

 Maintain the nucleated pattern of settlements, and promote the use of building 
materials to maintain vernacular style and a scale of development and that are 
appropriate to Central Vale Fringes. 

6.9 In this case, the site is already bounded by an established mature tree line and the 
applicant proposes to add to this through the implementation of a site planting scheme. 
The district council’s Forestry Officer has confirmed that the proposed planting scheme 
will help to secure the long-term tree cover around the perimeters of the site but, raised 
some initial concerns with regards to conflicting tree survey data and the proposed site 
layout (particularly trees T27 and T28 and the location of plot 1). The applicant has 
confirmed the tree canopy locations through a revised tree survey and no further 
objections have been raised providing the tree protection measures are secured prior to 
commencement of the development. I also consider that householder permitted 
development rights should be removed as this would prevent future uncontrolled 
development (potentially rear and side extensions and outbuildings) being constructed 
within the RPAs of trees to be retained (this would also prevent potential increased 
impacts on neighbours and future occupiers of the scheme). 

6.10 Several objections have been made with regards to the premature removal of trees 
adjacent to the main site access and there is concern that further tree protection 
(through a tree protection order) is required to preserve the mature tree-lined 
boundaries and the visual screening they secure. As stated above, tree protection 
measures have been proposed to ensure that existing trees are protected during the 
construction period and it has been confirmed by the district council’s Forestry Officer 
that the details are acceptable. As such, it would seem unreasonable to attempt to 
secure further formal protection (and in any case the retention of the mature trees 
would be linked to the site landscaping scheme condition). Some concern has also 
been raised that there will be pressure for trees to be felled by future occupiers of the 
site in order to secure improvements to daylight and outlook. The proposed site layout 
suggests to me that occupiers of the new dwellings would have sufficient access to 
daylight and open garden areas that would not be overshadowed. I acknowledge that 
some overshadowing of the rear gardens of plots 4 and 5 may occur during the earlier 

Page 49



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

hours of the day but this is unlikely to be severe and I am satisfied future pressure to 
feel the trees would not be significant. 

6.11 The proposed buildings would be partially visible within the local street scape and 
possibly within the wider landscape (particularly during winter months). The new 
dwellings would be predominantly two storey buildings with some single storey 
projections. Some objections have been made due to the relationship the proposed two 
storey buildings would have with the adjacent bungalows at Clogwyn Mawr and 
Summerfield to the west (it is suggested the dwellings should be single storey). I 
acknowledge that the proposed dwellings would be taller than the directly adjacent 
dwellings but, in terms of the general scale of buildings in the street scene I consider 
the existing bungalows are not prominent buildings (they are screened in most views 
along Woodcote Road) and do not represent the predominant type of dwelling in the 
wider village. The majority of (much more visible) buildings in the street scene are two-
storey and I do not consider there is justification on visual impact grounds to secure 
single storey (to one-and-a-half storey) buildings at this site. No restrictions to the 
overall heights of buildings were imposed at outline planning stage to justify such a 
requirement. 

6.12 The proposed materials palette and design approach, that incorporates some 
architectural features common to rural buildings in an overall contemporary 
development, would minimise potential harm to the wider AONB and impact on the 
street scene in the locality. The buildings would be laid out in a courtyard development 
echoing modern barn conversion developments commonly seen at edge-of-village 
locations. Some concern has been raised over the amount of hard-surfaced areas but, 
in my view subject to securing appropriate natural materials (where possible) I do not 
consider this would be harmful. I also consider that details of any external lighting 
should be secured in order to ensure light spillage into the AONB is kept to a minimum. 
There are some larger windows facing east and south (outwards into the AONB). The 
adjacent trees to be retained would screen much of the light spill from internal living 
areas but, external lighting could have a more severe effect so should be controlled. 

6.13 Boundary enclosures would be comprised of post and rail fencing infilled with native 
hedge planting along the north, east and southern intervening boundaries (shared with 
open countryside). A feather-edged timber fence would be installed along the eastern 
intervening boundary shared with the more suburban built-up area of the village. 
Generally, I consider the proposed boundary enclosures would help to preserve the 
setting of the site and wider village within the rural landscape whilst securing some 
privacy between the site and adjacent dwellings. The use of feather-edged timber 
fencing along the eastern boundary is considered to be acceptable in visual impact 
terms as the character of the village to the east is more suburban and feather-edged 
fencing is not an uncommon feature within the village. 

6.14 At this edge of village location, I consider the design approach is acceptable and 
subject to the recommended conditions no harm would be caused to the special 
landscape characteristics of the AONB. I therefore consider the details relating to 
landscaping, appearance, scale and layout are acceptable and would conserve the 
special landscape character of the AONB, the setting of the village within the rural 
landscape and the character and appearance of the site within the street scene in line 
with the aims of SOCS CSEN1 and SOLP policies C4, C9, D1, G2 and G4. 

6.15
Parking and turning areas
The proposed layout incorporates off-road parking areas in excess of those required 
under the county council’s guidance (including the garage spaces proposed). Further to 
this each plot would have off-road turning areas with a larger shared turning area 

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

forming the central area of the courtyard layout. I am satisfied sufficient parking and 
turning areas can be provided and no further planning control is required (over and 
above that secured through the outline planning permission). 

6.16
Impact on neighbours
The site is currently an open field. Some tree screening exists along the site boundaries 
this is currently limited along the eastern boundary shared with the closest neighbouring 
properties. The neighbouring dwelling at Clogwyn Mawr is a bungalow with several east 
facing windows that currently overlook the south-western area of the site (where plot 4 
would be constructed). The construction of the dwellings, particularly plot 4, will result in 
impacts on the amenities of the occupiers of Clogwyn Mawr (and to a lesser extent the 
occupiers of Summerfield to the north-west). For this impact to be acceptable it must be 
considered the development would not give rise to any unacceptable harm. 
 

6.17 The district council’s adopted design guidance SODG 2016 sets out certain separation 
distances that should be achieved if good levels of residential amenities are to be 
secured/preserved between occupiers of adjacent buildings. For the most part these 
separation distances are important to prevent harmful overlooking being created 
between adjacent buildings with secondary issues being the preservation of daylight 
and preventing an overbearing impact on neighbouring outlook. Separation distances 
between plot 1, plot 4 and the neighbouring bungalow at Summerfield are sufficient and 
any views created would not be direct due to the layout of the respective buildings. 
However, in this case, it would appear the east facing elevation of the closest 
neighbouring dwelling at Clogwyn Mawr is possibly the rear elevation (although it may 
be a side elevation as the internal layout and fenestration layouts of the elevations 
make this unclear). Assuming a rear-to-side relationship would be created the between 
Clogwyn Mawr and plot 4 the separation distances would be marginally substandard. 
This suggests to me that some harm to the outlook from the neighbouring property 
would be caused. 

6.18 The main house at plot 4 would be constructed in a split-level design with a hipped side 
gable and two storey front elevation dropping to a 1.5 storey elevation (with small 
projecting dormers) at the rear. The garage that would project to the front of plot 4 
would also be single storey with a dual-pitched roof sloping away from the neighbouring 
boundary. Due to the location of the dwelling at plot 4 to the north-east of Clogwyn 
Mawr I am satisfied that day light would generally be preserved. Clogwyn Mawr would 
receive the same levels of day light during the earlier hours of the day as the current 
situation allows and there would be no overshadowing during the later hours of the day 
(in any case the existing trees to be retained will cast a much larger shadow over the 
neighbouring dwelling, particularly during summer months). 

6.19 Privacy would also be preserved as no first-floor windows are proposed that would 
directly overlook the neighbouring dwelling and one window at ground floor level would 
be obscured, serving a WC, and would be screened by boundary fencing. Views from 
rear facing windows of plot 4 may cause some overlooking of the garden at Clogwyn 
Mawr but, these views would be over very obtuse angles and would be screened by 
existing trees so would not be harmful. I am mindful of the currently very private and 
open outlook that is enjoyed by the occupiers of Clogwyn Mawr but, I consider on 
balance that the cumulative impact of the construction of plot 4 on the residential 
amenities available to the neighbouring occupiers would not be unacceptably harmful. 

6.20 Planning conditions can restrict permitted development rights for the creation of new 
windows and doors to protect neighbour privacy and remove PD rights for extensions to 
the dwellings to limit potential future impacts on neighbouring amenities and the 
amenities of future occupiers of the adjacent plots. As such, I am satisfied the 

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

development would not cause unacceptable harm to neighbouring residential amenities 
so does not conflict with the aims of SOCS policies CSQ3 and CSR1 or SOLP policies 
H4, D1, D3 and D4. 

6.21
Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy
The application is supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal (secured by condition 
7 of the outline permission). The district council’s Countryside Officer has assessed this 
document and has concluded the habitats on site are not considered to be a constraint 
to development. The ecological surveys found no evidence of any protected species on 
site, and recommendations are made for working methods, the retention of existing 
trees and faunal enhancements to the site. As such, subject to a condition to secure 
compliance with the recommendations in the ecological appraisal, I am satisfied that 
the proposal would not adversely impact any priority habitats or protected species and 
would not result in a net loss of biodiversity resource. The development therefore 
complies with SOCS policy CSB1 and SOLP policies C6 and C8. 

6.22
Construction and traffic management
A construction method statement and construction traffic plan have been submitted to 
satisfy conditions 11 and 16 of the outline planning permission. The construction 
method statement details that the central area of the site (to be finished as the hard-
surfaced courtyard turning area) would be the main compound area for the site with 
materials storage, site office and contractor parking all continued outside of the tree 
protection areas. A wheel wash would be provided at the site access. The document 
also details the various methods of controlling construction noise and dust and I am 
satisfied the proposed methods with offer a good level of mitigation. 
 

6.23 The construction traffic management plan details that construction vehicles will 
approach the development site from the west, via Woodcote Road. Woodcote Road 
connects to the B4009 (Wallingford Road), which in turn connects to the A4130, 
providing a direct link to the A34, for vehicles arriving from the north and the south. The 
A34 provides a connection to the M4 to the south and the A40, A44 and M40 to the 
north. It is proposed to erect appropriate signage to instruct construction and delivery 
vehicles of the direction to take, to and from the development site. All signage related to 
the construction works will be maintained and regularly inspected. The operating hours 
of the site will be between 08:00 to 18:00 from Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on 
a Saturday. No works will be undertaken on Sundays and Bank Holidays without prior 
approval.  Deliveries during the morning and afternoon peak traffic times will be avoided 
where possible.
 

6.24 On balance, I am satisfied the submitted documents detail sufficient measures to 
mitigate for the environmental and traffic impacts of the construction of the 
development. The development therefore complies with the aims of SOCS policy CSM1 
and policies EP1, T1 and T2 of the SOLP. 

6.25
Refuse and recycling storage
Information has been submitted to demonstrate that sufficient areas for the storage of 
domestic refuse and recycling bins can be provided within each plot. Bins may need to 
be moved to the fronts of the plots for collection, but the distances are relatively short. A 
swept path analysis has also been submitted detailing how a refuse vehicle would enter 
and exit the site in a forward gear. The central courtyard area would provide sufficient 
space for a refuse vehicle to turn. Operatives would also not be required to travel long 
distances to collect the refuse. As such, I am satisfied the site layout allows for 
sufficient refuse storage and collection arrangements to be achieved. 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 03 July 2019

6.26
Fire hydrants and drainage
Details relating to drainage and fire hydrant matters were initially submitted (to satisfy 
outline planning conditions 8 and 14) but, due to the requirement for further 
investigations and submission of additional technical information relating to surface 
water drainage tests and fire hydrant specifications these details have been removed 
from the current application. 

6.27
Other matters
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area. It is primarily calculated on 
the increase in footprint created as a result of new development. Outline planning 
permissions are not CIL liable but, in this case CIL is liable for the gross internal floor 
space that would be created in the event the reserved matters are approved.  

6.28 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. The proposal is 
considered to be in accordance with the development plan and is considered to be a 
sustainable form of development.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the reserved matters 

details and additional details submitted to discharge conditions 5, 6, 7, 11, 13 and 16 of 
outline planning permission ref: P17/S3206/O would result in a development that would 
preserve the character and appearance of the street scene, landscape setting of the 
rural village and landscape character of the wider Chilterns AONB. Further to this, the 
development would not give rise to unacceptable harm to neighbouring residential 
amenities and sufficient mitigation can be secured to minimise impacts on protected 
species, the local environment and highways network during construction. The reserved 
matters therefore remain in accordance with the relevant development plan policies and 
subject to the recommended conditions it would be a sustainable form of development.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions

1. Commencement reserved matters approval;
2. Approved plans;
3. Schedule of materials;
4. Planting scheme completed prior to occupation;
5. Development completed in accordance with ecology survey 

recommendations;
6. Removal of Permitted Development (PD) for additional doors and windows 

in west facing elevations of plot 1 and plot 4;
7. Removal of householder PD rights (Classes A-F);
8. External lighting details.

Notes:
1. Outline planning conditions note. 

Author:         David Millinship
E-mail :         david.millinship@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 53

mailto:david.millinship@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 10



P19/S0171/RM – APPENDIX 2 – APPLICATION PLANS 

 

PLOT 1 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

 

Page 56



PLOTS 2 AND 3 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

 

PLOT 4 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

 

Page 57



PLOT 5 ‐ ELEVATIONS

 

CGI IMAGE

 

 

 

Page 58



GROUND FLOOR PLANS AND SITE LAYOUT

 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 3 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0095/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 15.1.2019
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Pieter-Paul Barker

David Bretherton
Kate Gregory

APPLICANT Buildright (UK) Ltd
SITE Windrush Bridge Terrace Thame, Oxon, OX9 3LU

PROPOSAL Variation of condition 2 of application 
P15/S3607/FUL for the increase in the height of 
Units 1 and 2, the provision of 5 rooflights and 5 
skylights to Units 1 and 2 to facilitate loft 
conversions, the provision of two additional windows 
in the east elevation of Unit 3 and the 
reconfiguration of the ground floor layout of Unit 3.

(Demolition of existing dwelling at Windrush and 
erection of pair of semi-detached dwellings and one 
detached dwelling).

OFFICER Tom Wyatt

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee as the Officers’ recommendation 

conflicts with the views of Thame Town Council. 

1.2 The application site, which is shown on the OS extract attached at Appendix A, 
comprises three dwellings that are nearing completion following the grant of planning 
permission on appeal under application P15/S3607/FUL. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission to vary the approved plans specified in 

Condition 2 of the original planning permission in respect of the following amendments: 

- The increase in the height of Units 1 and 2 by 300mm
- The installation of 5 rooflights and 5 skylights within Units 1 and 2 as part of a 

proposal to convert the loft area of each dwelling to form a further bedroom
- The installation of two windows in the east facing side elevation of Unit 3
- The reconfiguration of part of the ground floor layout of Unit 3  

A copy of the plans approved under application P15/S3607/FUL is attached at 
Appendix B whilst a copy of the proposed plans is attached as Appendix C and other 
documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council – Objects on the following grounds: 

- Overdevelopment
- Insufficient parking
- Unneighbourly

Page 61

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0095/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 3 July 2019

Neighbours – 4 representations of objection have been submitted raising the following 
concerns: 

- Permitted development restrictions were imposed by the Inspector in allowing 
the appeal

- The building as constructed is higher than originally approved
- Loss of privacy 
- Reasons for objecting to the original application remain unchanged
- Occupancy would increase, leading to overdevelopment and increased traffic 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0189/FUL – Recommendation of approval

Formation of new parking area and enlargement of rear gardens

P15/S3607/FUL - Refused (30/03/2016) - Appeal allowed (20/10/2016)
Demolition of existing dwelling at Windrush and erection of pair of semi-detached 
dwellings and one detached dwelling (as amended to reduce the size of the dwellings 
and provide new vehicular access off Cotmore Gardens)

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSM1  -  Transport
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSTHA1  -  The Strategy for Thame

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) Policies;
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) Policies;
GA6 – Car parking
H5 – Integrate windfall sites
H6 – Design new development to be of high quality
H7 – Provide new facilities
ESDQ16 – Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings
ESDQ18 – Sense of place
ESDQ19 – Details of proposal
ESDQ26 – Traditional design
ESDQ27 – Inclusive design
ESDQ28 – Private outdoor space
ESDQ29 – Car parking design

Page 62

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3607/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 3 July 2019

D1 – Provide appropriate new facilities

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 The main planning considerations in relation to this proposal are: 
1. The impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area
2. The impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers
3. Other material considerations

6.2

The Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Site and Surrounding Area

In his decision notice allowing the appeal against the refusal of application 
P15/S3607/FUL the Inspector explained that, ‘in order to protect the character and 
appearance of the building and the area, a condition is also required to restrict 
permitted development rights for extensions to the buildings, enlargements to the roof 
and buildings incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse.’  Therefore, Condition 9 
of the planning permission was imposed, which has removed permitted development 
rights for extensions and alterations to the dwellings.  Without such a restriction all of 
the openings now proposed could be installed without the need for planning permission 
following the completion of the dwellings. However, it should be noted that the internal 
works to convert the lofts into bedroom accommodation could still be carried out without 
the need for planning permission.

6.3 The removal of permitted development rights does not mean that alterations or 
extensions to the dwellings are unacceptable in principle.  It solely means that planning 
permission will be required for such development, and it therefore falls to be assessed 
against the relevant development plan policies. 

6.4 The proposed window openings would be inserted in the rear and side facing 
elevations of the semi-detached properties and the side facing elevation of the 
detached property.  The openings represent modest alterations to the dwellings that 
would be in keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding built form 
and they would not be visually prominent in any public view.  As such the openings as 
proposed accord with the relevant development plan policies listed above. 

6.5 Units 1 and 2 have been constructed 300mm higher than the approved scheme.  Whilst 
it is clearly unfortunate that the dwellings were not built strictly in accordance with the 
approved plans, this cannot be a reason in itself to resist the development.  There has 
to be clear demonstrable harm caused as a result of this modest increase in height, and 
in this case the impact of the greater height on the character and appearance of the site 
and the surrounding area is negligible.  

6.6

The Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Occupiers

The rooflights in the rear elevation would be discreet and would only allow very limited 
views towards neighbouring properties. Furthermore, due to the height and position of 
the proposed rooflights in the side elevations of the dwellings and the relationship with 

Page 63



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 3 July 2019

the adjoining properties there would be very little opportunity for overlooking towards 
neighbouring living areas or gardens.  As such the rooflights would not adversely affect 
the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.  The skylights would allow no opportunity for 
overlooking.  

6.7 The ground floor window on the side elevation of Unit 3 would cause no adverse 
overlooking towards the adjoining property, Ridgeway, due to the intervening boundary 
fence.  The first floor window relates to a landing and faces directly towards the blank 
side elevation of Ridgeway.  As such opportunities for overlooking are limited, and in 
any event the window would need to comply with Condition 8 of the Inspector’s 
decision in respect of planning application P15/S3607/FUL, which requires that 
windows at first floor in the side elevations are fitted with obscure glazing. 
 

6.8 The modest increase in height has no materially greater impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers through loss of light or overshadowing, and the increase in 
height has no impact on overlooking potential to neighbouring properties from the front 
and rear elevations.  

6.9

Other Material Considerations

This proposal should be viewed in context with application P19/S0189/FUL, which has 
been approved for the increase in the garden areas of the dwellings and the relocation 
and increase in the size of the parking areas associated with the three dwellings.  The 
parking would increase from six to eight spaces and this additional provision would be 
sufficient to accommodate any increase in the occupancy of the dwellings.  

6.10 The additional floor space would be liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL).  

6.11 As this is an application to vary Condition 2 of the original planning permission, all of 
the other conditions imposed on this permission will still apply where relevant and are 
outlined in the recommendation below. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application proposal is in accordance with relevant development plan policies and 

national planning policy, as it is considered that the proposed rooflights would be in 
keeping with the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area and would 
not harm the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

Grant Planning Permission in accordance with the approved details
subject to the following conditions:

1 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
2 : Parking and turning in accordance with the approved plans
3 : Levels to be in accordance with details approved under application 
     P17/S1240/DIS
4 : Landscaping to be in accordance with details approved under application 
     P17/S1240/DIS
5 : Implementation of planting and seeding within the first planting season   
     following occupation of the development
6 : First floor side facing windows to be glazed with obscure glass
7 : Removal of permitted development rights for extensions, alterations and 
     outbuildings

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 3 July 2019

8 : Vehicular access as shown on the approved plans only

Author: Tom Wyatt
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:         01235 422600

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 67

Agenda Item 11



Appendix BP
age 68



Appendix C

P
age 69



P
age 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P18/S2900/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 7.9.2018
PARISH GORING
WARD MEMBER(S) Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Elmcroft Developments
SITE 3 Elmcroft Goring, RG8 9EU
PROPOSAL Erection of 2 dwellings. (As amended by noise 

assessment received 12th November 2018, further 
arboricultural and acoustic fence information 
received 27th March 2019 and revised plans and 
tree protection information received 4th June 2019).

OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 

Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
unacceptable impact on neighbouring residential amenities). 

1.2 The application site comprises an area of garden land, of approximately 0.2 hectares 
in area, located within the built-up limits of the village of Goring. Appendices 1 and 2 
provide a site location and context plan. The site comprises the north-eastern area of 
the existing plot at 3 Elmcroft, part of a late C20 suburban cul-de-sac development. A 
main railway line runs along the north-eastern boundary of the site where a line of 
protected trees is also located. The site and wider village are located within the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

1.3 Vehicular access to the site is achieved from the public highway at Elmcroft via a long 
private drive of approximately 30 metres in length (to the main application site). The 
existing drive extends across (predominantly) open garden land which forms a key 
characteristic of the street scene, being mainly characterised by detached modern 
houses set back from the highway. The street frontages are mainly open, given over 
to lawns, sparsely populated by mature trees and shrubs with private drives and 
parking/turning areas adjacent to the buildings. The area possesses a distinctively late 
C20 suburban character and appearance.  

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal is to construct two detached dwellings within subdivided plots sharing the 

existing vehicular access. Additional parking would be provided for the house at 3 
Elmcroft with off-road parking and turning areas created for the new houses. An 
existing garage, set adjacent to the south-eastern side boundary shared with the 
neighbouring property at 4 Elmcroft, would be demolished to provide access to the site. 

2.2 The houses would both be of a modular design with living space effectively split 
between two, two-storey blocks (internally linked). House B (the building closest to the 
neighbouring property at 4 Elmcroft) would also feature a flat-roof double garage. Both 
of the houses would have a forward projecting block measuring a width of 
approximately 7.1 metres with a depth of 6.4 metres, eaves height of 5.1 metres and a 
ridge height of 8.7 metres. The subservient rear blocks would be set back 
approximately 3.9 metres from the front building lines of the main block. They would 
have a width of 6 metres with a depth of 5.75 metres, an eaves height equal to the front 

Page 71

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2900/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

block and ridge heights of 8.4 metres. The double garage serving House B would 
project a width of 6.15 metres with a depth of 6.4 metres (equal to the main block) and 
a height of 2.6 metres. The houses would be constructed using brick walls at lower 
level with tile roofs.
 

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1 Goring Parish Council – Objection
 Overdevelopment of the site and harm to neighbouring amenities contrary to 

SOLP policy H4;
 Concern over parking areas causing damage to tree roots. 

Contaminated Land - No objection
 Based on the information submitted there does not appear to be any potential 

sources of contaminated land that could impact the development site.

Drainage Engineer -) - No objection
 Subject to securing full surface water and foul drainage system details. 

Env. Protection Team– No objection
 Initial objection due to the potential high level of noise that would be 

experienced due to the proximity to the main railway line (particularly to outside 
amenity areas). Following the submission of a noise assessment and acoustic 
fencing details no further objection was made providing the acoustic fence was 
secured by condition. 

Forestry Officer - No objection
 Originally raised an objection due to potential for harm to be caused to protected 

trees (due to lack of clarity over tree protection measures). After the submission 
of an arboricultural impact assessment and revised tree protection measures no 
further objection was made. 

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection
 Subject to the use of conditions to secure access upgrades, visibility splays and 

off-road parking and turning areas as proposed. 

Neighbour responses
 Development out of character with the scale, layout and design of existing 

houses in the street;
 The development will result in increased noise, disturbance and nuisance to the 

detriment of neighbours’ residential amenity;
 Neighbouring privacy will be adversely affected; 
 Two new houses are an overdevelopment of the site;
 As a back-land site the development fails to comply with SOLP policy H4;
 The access is single track and could not accommodate the additional traffic 

generation; 
 Insufficient parking would be provided and if cars are parked on the road harm 

would be caused to highway safety, particularly due to the bend in the road at 3 
Elmcroft (where accidents are reported to have occurred in the past);

 The applicant states there are no parking restrictions on the cul-de-sac, so 
parking can take place on street if required. This is incorrect as No Waiting 

Page 72

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

restrictions apply to the entire length of Elmcroft (on Monday to Friday either 
between 10am-11am or 3pm-4pm);

 Bins serving the three dwellings (up to 9), will regularly be left blocking the 
drives of no2, no3 & no4 and there appears to be not enough space to store 
bins within the site;

 There will be no side access into the garden of 3 Elmcroft;
 The remaining garden of 3 Elmcroft will be too small;
 Adverse impact on trees, particularly those close to neighbouring boundaries; 
 Boundary enclosures are not clear, it is stated to retain a hedge within the 

ownership of 4 Elmcroft, which due to its age and condition may be removed;
 Future occupiers of the new houses would be subject to noise and light pollution 

from the railway line and maintenance depot now located opposite the site;
 Would not preserve or enhance the AONB. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S1994/PEM - Letter response(10/07/2018)

Erection of 2 dwellings and access.

P17/S1142/PEM -  Letter response(25/04/2017)
Demolition of existing dwelling.
Erection of pair semi-detached chalet style 3 bed houses.
Erection of detached 3 bed house.
 
P00/W0255 - Approved (02/05/2000)
Erection of a single-storey timber conservatory upon a dwarf wall.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where the 
development plan is silent on a particular matter it will be assessed in line with the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019). The district 
council’s development plan comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS), 
the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) and advice contained within the South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG).

5.2 Goring Parish Council is currently working on a neighbourhood plan. The Goring 
Neighbourhood Plan - Submission Version (NP) has undergone independent 
examination and is scheduled to go to a public referendum on 4th July 2019. Its policies 
are considered to possess significant weight in the current planning assessment. The 
policies most relevant to the current proposal are as follows:

 Policy 02 – Infill; 
 Policy 11 – Conserving and enhancing Goring’s landscape;
 Policy 12 – Conserve and enhance biodiversity;
 Policy 13 – Light pollution;
 Policy 16 – Building design principles;
 Policy 19 – Adequate parking in new developments;
 Policy 20 – Walking and cycling.

5.3
Development Plan
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;
 CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – The overall strategy;
 CSB1 – Conservation and biodiversity;

Page 73

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1994/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1142/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P00/W0255


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

 CSEN1 – Landscape;
 CSM1 – Transport; 
 CSQ2 – Sustainable Design and Construction;
 CSQ3 – Design;
 CSR1 – Housing in villages. 

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 G2 – Protection and enhancement of the environment;
 G5 – Best use of land;
 C6 – Biodiversity conservation;
 C8 – Protected species; 
 C9 – Landscape features; 
 CON11, 12 and 13 - Archaeology;
 D1 – Good design and local distinctiveness;
 D2 – Vehicle and bicycle parking;
 D3 – Plot coverage and garden areas;
 D4 – Privacy and daylight;
 EP1 – Pollution; 
 EP2 – Noise and vibration; 
 EP3 – Light Pollution; 
 EP6 – Surface water protection;
 EP8 – Contaminated land; 
 H4 – Towns and villages;
 T1 and 2 – Transport requirements for new developments.

5.4
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) – 
 Part 2 – Sections 2 (natural environment), 6 (parking), 7 (plot layout) and 8 

(ensuring quality);
 Part 3 – Section 2 (Trees and Landscaping).

5.5
National Planning Policy and Guidance
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.6
Third Party Guidance
 Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019;
 Chilterns Building Design Guide (February 2010);
 Landscape Character Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 (November 2017);
 Goring Village Design Statement (2011). 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The site is in a back-land location in proximity to several neighbouring residential 

properties, a row of protected trees and a noise generating land-use (the railway). As 
such, the main issues to take into account are therefore:

 The principle of the development (having regard to the new housing 
policies of the development plan);

 Impact on the street scene and wider landscape character of the AONB 
(with regard to the impact on trees);

 Impact on neighbouring residential amenities;
 Amenities of future occupiers of the site (noise impacts of the railway);
 Site access, bin storage and impact on highway safety.

Page 74



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.2
Principle of development
The site is accepted as being within the built-up limits of the rural village of Goring 
(classed as a ‘larger village’ in the SOCS). As such, the broad principle of development 
providing new housing is supported by SOCS policy CSR1 and SOLP policy H4. SOCS 
policy CSR1 relates to the housing strategy across the district’s villages. Goring is 
designated a ‘larger’ village, as such, allows some additional housing via allocated 
sites, ‘infill’ plots (up to 0.2ha) and rural exception sites. ‘Infill’ is defined as:

…the filling of a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or on other 
sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by 
buildings…

6.3 In this case, the site is clearly within the built limits of the settlement. It is a large rear 
garden that serves 3 Elmcroft, a large corner plot in a residential street. The 
development plot measures approximately 0.13ha (0.19ha if including the existing 
house and driveway). Removing the existing garage will create a small gap in the built 
frontage and the site is largely surrounded by buildings (albeit separated by the railway 
line to the north). In my view, the development could be considered infill in the context 
of this policy and I accept the general principle does not conflict with the development 
plan

6.4 However, I would also consider that due to the partially ‘back-land’ nature of the plot, a 
sensitive layout and design will be critical. It is therefore perhaps pertinent to assess the 
development against the provisions of SOLP policy H4. H4 sets out several criteria that 
new housing development within the district’s villages is expected to meet:

i. an important open space of public, environmental or ecological 
value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt;

ii. the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed 
development are in keeping with its surroundings;

iii. the character of the area is not adversely affected;
iv. there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway 

objections; and
v. if the proposal constitutes back-land development, it would not 

create problems of privacy and access and would not extend 
the built limits of the settlement.

6.5 I must also give significant weight to the advanced stage of the Goring NP and its 
individual policies. Of which, Policy 02 relates to infill development within the village. It 
states that proposals for dwellings on sites within the built-up area of Goring will
be permitted provided that:

 important open space of public, environmental or ecological 
value is not lost, nor an important public view harmed. In 
particular, the views that must be protected are the following:
- between Goring and Gatehampton;
- between Goring and South Stoke;
- east of Goring above Fairfield Road;
- north east of Goring between Icknield and Elvendon Roads;
- within the river setting;

 if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not 
create problems of privacy and access and would not extend 
the built limits of the village;

 it does not conflict with other policies in the Goring Plan or Local 
development plan; and

Page 75



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

 the scale of development is appropriate to the neighbouring 
area and does not have an adverse impact on its character.

6.6 Several of the criteria of both SOLP H4 and Goring NP Policy 02 overlap with wider 
design, amenity and transport impact polices of the development plan but, I consider 
the broad parameters set out by both policies could be complied with at this site. I 
therefore intend to fully assess the material planning impacts of the scheme against the 
criteria of H4 and NP Policy 02 (and other relevant policies) before drawing a firm 
conclusion on the compliance of the development with the adopted plan and emerging 
NP. 

6.7
Impact on the street scene and landscape character
The site is partially visible within the street scene within the setting of neighbouring 
suburban development. Within landscape views the site is very well screened by 
existing buildings, the protected trees to the rear and trees/shrubs within the site 
frontage. It is also not of a scale that I consider could result in significant adverse 
impacts on the landscape character of the AONB in the locality. To prevent increased 
cumulative light spill into the AONB external lighting can be restricted by planning 
condition. The tree protection measures proposed will also be required to be secured 
by condition to ensure the trees lining the rear boundary are not harmed during 
development. There was some initial concern that the protection measures proposed 
would be insufficient but, a revised arboricultural impact assessment and tree protection 
plan was submitted, and the district council’s Forestry Officer has subsequently offered 
no further objections. In order to prevent future harm to the protected trees I also 
consider it necessary to remove householder permitted development rights for 
extensions and outbuildings (Classes A and E of Schedule 2, Part 1 of the GPDO).

6.8 The local street scene is characterised by a mixture of detached late C20 houses. The 
buildings are set within a non-uniform layout along the western side of Elmcroft, with 
buildings along the eastern side mostly set within rectilinear plots and a more uniform 
layout. A key characteristic is that all buildings in the cul-de-sac are set back from the 
public highway (not to uniform distances). The frontages remain mostly open lawns with 
some shrub and tree planting and car parking/turning areas located closer to the 
buildings. Several mature trees are protected but, these do not include the trees within 
the frontages of 2, 3 or 4 Elmcroft. The scale of the existing dwellings and plots varies 
somewhat between large detached dwellings in irregular shaped plots to smaller chalet 
bungalow type houses in rectilinear plots. Many of the existing houses also have 
garages (predominantly flat-roofed structures). Overall, the street scene possesses a 
distinctively verdant suburban character. 

6.9 The proposal would introduce two new buildings accessed from (what would become) a 
shared drive which is not currently a characteristic of the other properties in the cul-de-
sac. However, the existing plot is larger than the majority of neighbouring plots in the 
street, particularly the dwellings set along the eastern edge of Elmcroft. With the 
exception of a shared access, the subdivided plots and new buildings would be broadly 
commensurate to the scale and layout of the existing dwellings in the street and I do 
not consider the proposed site layout would be harmful to the overall suburban 
character of the area. Some concern has been raised within third party objections over 
the infilling of the gap between 3 and 4 Elmcroft with two storey buildings. There are 
gaps between buildings within the street scene that contribute to the character of the 
street scene and the rural setting of the village. In my view these are most important at 
the southern area of the cul-de-sac where several views through to the open 
countryside are available (framing the rural setting of the village). At the application site 
the contribution of the gap between 3 and 4 Elmcroft (to the overall character of the 
street scene) is not significant. The proposal would also retain some views through to 

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

the protected trees that line the railway boundary, particularly within the most available 
views of the site from the south-west. 

6.10 The modular design of the buildings is not strictly in accordance with the existing 
dwellings in the street scene. To an extent, both new buildings would be screened by 
the existing houses and partially screened by existing vegetation. They would also be 
significantly set back within wider views and would be seen as a subservient addition to 
the street scene. As stated above the general layout of the subdivided site is 
considered acceptable. As such, there is some scope for the building design to depart 
from the more common (but not uniform) designs of the existing buildings. In this case, I 
do not consider the proposed designs would drastically depart from the overall 
suburban character of the street scene to a degree that would cause unacceptable 
harm. The garage at House B would be flat-roofed to echo the various other garages in 
the street scene. 

6.11 A planning condition can secure the use of materials to match the existing dwellings, 
which are mostly red brick walls with plain tile roofs and some tile cladding at first floor 
level. I consider this reasonable to ensure the proposed dwellings would not look overly 
out-of-place. Goring NP Policy 16 asks that new housing development has regard to 
the SODG 2016 and the Chilterns Building Design Guide (CBDG). The CBDG 
encourages the use of traditional building materials and techniques in order to ensure 
the architectural character of many of the historic buildings is conserved and not 
harmed by modern development. In this case the site is part of a modern suburban 
development and is not seen within the context of the historic buildings or areas of the 
village where traditional materials and techniques (such as the use of knapped flint or 
Flemish brick bonding) are more prevalent.  I consider that it is appropriate to secure 
materials to match the existing houses within Elmcroft but, feel it would be 
unreasonable to secure the use of traditional materials or building techniques in the 
context of this site. 

6.12 I have also had regard to the Goring Village Design Statement (VDS) which advises 
that more spacious modern developments within the village should not be harmed by 
new development that is out-of-character with the layout and scale of existing 
properties. As above, I am satisfied the scale and layout of the proposed dwellings 
would not result in unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the street 
scene or wider landscape views of the village. Therefore, the special landscape 
character of the AONB would be conserved and the development would comply with 
policies SOCS CSEN1 and CSQ3 and SOLP policies D1, G2, G5 and H4. I consider 
the proposal would also not conflict with the emerging NP policies 02 and 16. 

6.13
Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
The closest neighbouring residential properties to the application site are 2 Elmcroft (to 
the north-west adjacent to the site access), 4 Elmcroft (directly to the south) and 39 and 
41 Holmlea Road (directly to the north). Consideration must also be given to the 
amenities of future occupiers of the existing house at 3 Elmcroft (assessed below). 

6.14 Firstly, I consider that daylight available to neighbouring properties would be mainly 
unaffected. The two-storey section of House B would be set within approximately 6.9 
metres of the southern intervening boundary shared with 4 Elmcroft. The flat roof 
garage would be located within 0.9 metres of the boundary with a gated pedestrian 
access between the garage and neighbouring property. Within the outlook of the 
property at 4 Elmcroft the garage would be seen as a 6 metre long, 2.6 metre high 
blank wall. Due to the single storey height and orientation of the flat roof I consider this 
would not be overbearing and would not significantly overshadow the neighbouring 
garden.

Page 77



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.15 The garage would also mostly be screened by an existing hedge (seemingly located 
entirely on land under the control of 4 Elmcroft). It is stated by the applicant that the 
hedge would be retained. I do not consider this can be relied upon as the hedge 
appears to be outside of the applicant’s control. I also note the neighbour comments 
that the hedge may be removed (due to its age and condition). As such, I consider a 
planning condition to secure the installation of an appropriate boundary treatment is 
reasonable in order to protect neighbouring amenities into the future. The original 
design of House B featured an open off-road car parking area adjacent to the 
neighbouring boundary extending substantially to the rear of the property. The 
enclosure of the parking spaces within a garage will reduce some noise spill and act as 
a privacy screen to an extent. However, I consider it is reasonable to secure a more 
substantial boundary enclosure along the part of the shared boundary extending to the 
front of the garage at House B in order to mitigate against the creation of a shared 
parking and turning areas adjacent to the neighbouring boundary.   

6.16 The property at 4 Elmcroft also has a private outdoor patio area to the front of the main 
house. Whilst this is uncommon (as private outdoor amenity areas are generally to the 
rear of a house) I consider it is an area of the neighbouring property that is a currently 
quiet, private space. The existing detached garage at 3 Elmcroft abuts this patio area, 
offering a good level of privacy and screening against noise from the railway line (hence 
the location of the patio to the front of the property). It may not be possible to retain the 
existing garage wall, but I consider it is reasonable to require the construction of a 
replacement brick boundary wall in order to secure mitigation against the noise and 
disturbance that is likely to arise from the creation of a parking and turning area next to 
the neighbouring boundary. Subject to the recommended conditions I am satisfied the 
amenities of occupiers at 4 Elmcroft would not be unacceptably harmed. 

6.17 The impact of the proposal on the two dwellings at Holmlea Road to the north would 
also be acceptable. Separation distances between the rear elevation of House A and 
41 Holmlea Road would be over 25 metres (with tree screening) and I consider daylight 
and privacy would be preserved between the site and the dwellings to the north. Some 
concern has been raised by third parties over the creation of an off-road parking space 
to serve the existing house at 3 Elmcroft. One of the spaces would be located within 4-5 
metres of the front elevation of 2 Elmcroft.  Generally, this is unlikely to result in 
unacceptable harm. As a front facing window it is not expected to be entirely private 
and some mutual overlooking between the existing drive and neighbouring property 
already exists, so privacy would be unharmed. Some additional noise and disturbance 
may be created (also due to an increase in vehicles accessing the properties to the 
rear), but this is not considered to be able to generate severe impacts over and above 
the existing situation and unacceptable harm to the neighbouring amenities of 2 
Elmcroft would not arise in my view.  

6.18 Concerns relating to the storage of bins have been raised both with regards to highway 
safety and amenities. I consider there is some potential for bins to be left at the 
roadside on collection day but, bin storage areas are proposed to be provided within 
each plot so the bins would only be seen as temporary features within the street scene 
and outlook from neighbouring dwellings. Bins are also common (if undesirable) visual 
features in suburban areas (in in terms of environmental sustainability they offer public 
benefits where recycling schemes are in operation). As such, I am not concerned that 
the temporary presence of bins within the street scene would harmful in terms of visual 
impact or neighbouring amenities.  

6.19 During the construction phase of the development there is likely to be harm caused to 
neighbouring amenities due to noise and disturbance and potentially pollution. SOLP 

Page 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

policies EP1 and EP2 together seek to mitigate harm to neighbouring amenities 
through pollution or noise and vibrations. In this case I consider a planning condition 
can be used to secure details of a constriction environmental management plan. Many 
of the impacts of the construction phase would be able to be controlled through 
environmental protection legislation. However, given the close relationship of the site 
with neighbouring properties and that the access is narrow (considering HGV traffic) I 
consider a precautionary approach, securing these details in advance of the 
commencement of the development, is reasonable and necessary on both 
neighbouring amenity and highway safety grounds. 

6.20 On balance, whilst I must acknowledge that some impact from the development would 
be caused to neighbouring amenities I do not consider unacceptable harm would arise. 
Subject to the recommended conditions I am satisfied mitigation can be secured and 
neighbouring amenities preserved in line with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 and 
SOLP policies D1, D3, D4, EP1, EP2, G2, G5 and H4 as well as policies 02 and 16 of 
the emerging NP.   

6.21
Amenities of future site occupiers
Future occupiers of the proposed houses would benefit from generally good levels of 
internal living space with access to sufficient amounts of daylight. The buildings would 
be located within 1.9 metres of each other, so some mutual overshadowing would 
occur. I do not consider this would be harmful as the adjacent properties would only 
receive some loss of direct sun light for part of the day (morning for House A and 
evening for House B) and due to the orientation of the site the rear gardens would 
mostly benefit from good levels of light throughout the day. Section 7 of the SODG 
2016 sets out minimum sizes for private outdoor amenity areas, being 100 sq.m for 
three-bedroom+ properties. The SODG 2016 also states that garden areas should be 
good quality spaces that are not overlooked or significantly overshadowed. Both 
houses would be served by rear garden areas of over 120 sq.m. This has been 
estimated excluding the areas adjacent to and underneath the existing protected trees 
(these could still be useable areas, but are likely to be overshadowed). 

6.22 The rear gardens of both new dwellings would experience noise from the adjacent main 
railway line. Initial concern was raised by the district council’s Environmental Protection 
Officer with regards to internal noise levels. A noise assessment was submitted 
demonstrating that acceptable internal noise levels could be achieved. Some concern 
remained over the noise levels that could be achieved in the rear garden areas. Whilst 
these would be in line with many existing properties that back onto the railway line in 
Goring, the current adopted policy seeks to prevent new development that could be 
adversely affected by existing sources of significant noise or vibration. As such, further 
mitigation was sought and details of an acoustic fence proposed. Subsequently the 
Env. Protection Officer withdrew their objection providing the noise mitigation was 
secured prior to occupation of the dwellings. 

6.23 It is of note that the acoustic fence would be installed within the root protection areas 
(RPAs) of the protected trees located along the eastern site boundary. Along with the 
acoustic fence details the applicant had submitted a revised arboricultural impact 
assessment (AIA) detailing a method of installation for the fence. It is proposed to dig 
post holes by hand so that tree roots can be mostly avoided. The post holes would not 
cover large areas, so it is possible to install the fence without harm being caused to the 
tree roots. As such, I consider it is necessary to ensure the condition to secure the 
installation of the acoustic fence also ensure it is installed in accordance with the 
method recommended within the revised AIA.   

Page 79



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.24 The private garden area that would remain to serve the existing house at 3 Elmcroft 
would be approximately 150 sq.m. Some areas of the northern and western boundaries 
of the garden are populated with trees and shrubs, but these are not particularly large 
and would not overshadow the garden to a harmful degree. If the existing trees and 
areas of shrub planting are retained I estimate the useable garden area would be 
around 120 sq.m which is sufficient for a dwelling of this size. The creation of a shared 
turning area to the front of the existing house would result in some additional noise and 
disturbance to future occupiers of that property. Vehicle movements are unlikely to be 
excessive and would generally be most regular during peak travel times 7-10am and 3-
6pm. In my view, any additional noise created would not give rise to unacceptable harm 
to the residential amenities of future occupiers of 3 Elmcroft. 

6.25 Generally, subject to the recommended conditions I am satisfied that future occupiers 
of House A and House B and the existing dwelling at 3 Elmcroft. would benefit from 
good levels of residential amenity in line with the aims of SOCS CSQ3 and SOLP 
policies D1, D3, D4, EP1, EP2, G2, G5 and H4. 

6.26
Site access, bin storage and highway safety
The development would create a shared access and drive that would serve two 
additional three-bedroom properties as well as the existing four-bedroom dwelling. This 
would result in a material increase to traffic movements in and out of the access. The 
county council Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the proposal and stated that, 
given the characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are considered 
to be relatively low. OCC Highways have advised the proposal is unlikely to have a 
significant adverse impact on the highway network providing that conditions are applied 
to ensure the access is upgraded in line with OCC’s requirements, that the off-road 
parking and turning areas are provided prior to occupation and keeping visibility splays 
unobstructed. 

6.27 In highway safety terms I accept that subject to securing the off-road parking and 
turning areas (as proposed) and securing protection to the visibility splays there would 
be only a marginal detriment to highway safety in the locality. The existing access is 
visible from the public highway and is one of many vehicle crossovers in the street. As 
such, it is reasonable to expect users of the highway (both vehicular and pedestrian) to 
be aware of vehicles crossing into the road. In my view there are limited opportunities 
for the access to be widened due to the narrow width of the site adjacent to the public 
highway and proximity of a semi-mature cedar tree located at 4 Elmcroft. The tree is not 
formally protected but is of value to the street scene so is to be protected during the 
construction period. Any condition requiring access amendments can highlight the 
requirement to protect the tree (such as seeking ‘no dig’ methods) if resurfacing is 
needed. 

6.28 There is some concern over the need for visitors’ cars to park on the public highway, 
where there are some waiting restrictions in place (Mon-Fri). Providing the parking 
areas are secured within the site it would be unlikely that indiscriminate parking would 
occur on the public highway (and some parking is allowed outside of the waiting 
restrictions). It is more likely that cars would park within the site where there would be 
room for some additional informal parking without obstruction to the turning area. To 
ensure that parking areas are retained a condition can be used to prevent conversion of 
the garage to additional living accommodation. The site is also within walking distance 
of Goring village centre where there are a number of services (pubs, shops and 
professional services), as well as areas of public open space and the Thames Path. 
There is therefore a reasonable expectation that more sustainable modes of transport 
can be used for some shorter trips. 

Page 80



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.29 Bins are proposed to be stored within each plot, away from the public highway where 
they would be collected. Several third-party objections have raised concerns over bins 
being left at the junction of the site with the public highway after collection. This is 
acknowledged as a possibility. However, if bins are left on neighbours’ land or 
obstructing accesses civil action would need to be taken. It is reasonable to expect that 
bin storage areas in proximity to the houses would be used (as it is far more convenient 
to place waste and recycling in bins adjacent to the dwelling than to walk to the public 
highway) and I consider a condition requiring the provision of them prior to the 
occupation of the dwellings is necessary. 

6.30 On balance, whilst I accept there would be a material impact on highway safety I do not 
consider this to be harmful and the development would there comply with SOCS policy 
CSM1 and SOLP policies D2, H4, T1 and T2 and the emerging NP policies 02, 19 and 
20. 

6.31
Other matters
The council’s CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) charging schedule applies to 
relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area. It 
is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of new 
development. CIL is liable for the gross internal floor space that would be created in the 
event the planning application is approved.  

6.32 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. The proposal 
has been subject to revisions through the application process and is now considered 
(on balance) to be in accordance with the development plan and is considered to be a 
sustainable form of development.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the development 

would preserve the character and appearance of the street scene, landscape setting of 
the rural village and landscape character of the wider Chilterns AONB. Further to this, 
the development would not give rise to unacceptable harm to neighbouring residential 
amenities and sufficient mitigation can be secured to minimise impacts on protected 
trees, the local environment and highways network during construction. The proposal is 
therefore in accordance with the relevant development plan policies. Subject to the 
recommended conditions it would be a sustainable form of development and planning 
permission should be granted in line with the provisions of policy CS1 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions

1. Three-year time limit;
2. Approved plans;
3. Tree protection (prior to commencement);
4. Construction traffic and environmental management plan (prior to 

commencement);
5. Schedule of materials (prior to above-ground construction);
6. Boundary enclosures (full details and construction prior to occupation);
7. Drainage (foul and surface water systems installed prior to occupation);
8. Acoustic fence (installed prior to occupation);

Page 81



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

9. Provision of parking and turning areas (in accordance with full 
construction details, prior to occupation);

10. Provision of 43m x 2.4m visibility splays prior to occupation;
11. Access improvements (full construction details prior to occupation);
12. Provision of bin storage areas (prior to occupation);
13. External lighting restriction;
14. Removal of PD rights Classes A and E (tree protection reason);
15. Garage conversion restriction. 

Informatives:

1. Wild birds note;
2. Highways note;
3. CIL note;
4. Unexpected contamination note;
5. Archaeology Note. 

Author:        David Millinship
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 82



Appendix 1

Page 83

Agenda Item 12



Appendix 2

P
age 84



Appendix 2

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S1246/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 15.4.2019
PARISH GORING
WARD MEMBER(S) Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Adam Estates Ltd
SITE Unit 4 The Arcade High Street Goring, RG8 9AY
PROPOSAL Change of use  of Unit 4 to Pilates/Yoga Studio ( 

Class D2)
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application has been referred to Planning Committee as the views of Goring 

Parish Council differ from the officer’s recommendation.

1.2 The site lies within Goring village centre in the Goring conservation area and the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).

1.3 The Arcade is a 1960s development comprising some 9 units. The current uses of the 
units include a café, restaurant, card/gift shop, a financial advisor and a care hub. Unit 
4 is located towards the southern end of the arcade. The unit is currently vacant and 
was last used as a dining area in association with the adjacent Chinese restaurant at 
number 3 The Arcade.
 

1.4 A site location plan is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission to change the use of the premises from 

A3 (restaurant use) to D2 (community and leisure use) a yoga /Pilates studio. The 
applicants own the arcade.

2.2 No external alterations to the building are proposed.

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the applications are attached as Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1 Goring Parish Council – Object
Loss of another retail unit in the Arcade. Could be in conflict with the proposed strategic 
project in the emerging Neighbourhood Plan.

County Archaeological Services - No objection 

Conservation Officer - No objection 
The proposed change of use would not harm the historic significance of the designated 
conservation area.

Economic Development – Approve

Page 87

Agenda Item 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1246/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S4285/FUL - Approved (12/03/2019)

Replace 5 number existing bollards at the front of the property with similar bollards.

P99/W0217 - Approved (24/06/1999)
Change of use from retail to use as dining area in conjunction with existing 
restaurant/takeaway business in adjoining unit. (A1-A3). (As amplified by letter from 
applicant dated 24.5.99 and accompanying plans and the agent's letter dated 26.5.99).

P98/W0533/A - Approved (07/10/1998)
One projecting sign, three fascia signs and one pole mounted sign.(As amended by 
letters from applicant dated 11 August 1998 and 24 August 1998 and accompanying 
drawings).

P98/W0532 - Approved (07/10/1998)
Erection of post and wall lighting. Creation of hole in wall. Paving and re-paving.  (As 
amended by letters from applicant dated 11 August 1998, 13 August 1998 and 24 
August 1998 and accompanying drawings and amplified by letters from applicant dated 
9 and 10 September 1998).

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM4  -  Supporting economic development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

CF1  -  Protection of recreational or essential community facilities
CF2  -  Provision of additional community facilities
CF3  -  Retention of shops
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
EP2  -  Adverse effect by noise or vibration
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan: Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows weight to be given to relevant 
policies in emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise and 
only subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent to unresolved objections 
and the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF

Following the independent examination of the Goring Neighbourhood Plan, the District 
Council has agreed that the plan should now proceed to referendum. The referendum 
will take place on Thursday 4 July 2019. As such the plan can be given significant 
weight. The policies most relevant to the current proposal are as follows:

 Policy 17  - Historic Environment

In addition, the plan includes Action 10 which relates to the rejuvenation of Goring 
village centre. This states that “following the making of this plan, the Parish Council 
should establish a strategic project to take professional advice, and explore potential 
mechanisms, to secure the comprehensive redevelopment of this important site in the 
heart of the village for the future. “

Page 88

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4285/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P99/W0217
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P98/W0533/A
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P98/W0532


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key considerations in determining this application are:

 Impact on the character and appearance of the Goring conservation area
 Impact on the special character of the AONB
 Impact on neighbours
 Impact on parking
 Loss of a retail unit
 CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy)
 Other issues

6.2 Impact on the character of the Goring conservation area. 
The conservation area is a designated heritage asset. Section 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention be paid 
to the desirability of preserving and enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2018) reflects this requirement, stating 
that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.

6.3 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF (2018) requires that planning permission should be refused 
if there is substantial harm or the total loss of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 
196 of the NPPF establishes that where the harm is less than substantial that any harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

6.4 CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that conservation areas will be conserved and 
enhanced and that proposals that affect non-designated historic assets will be 
considered taking account of the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset.

6.5 CON7 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development in a conservation area does not 
harm the character and appearance of the area; that design and scale of the new work 
is in sympathy with the established character of the area and that traditional materials 
are used whenever appropriate.

6.6 In this case, no external alterations to the unit are proposed. As such the proposed 
change of use would not have any material impact on the character or appearance of 
the Goring conservation area. By making use of an empty unit, the proposed change of 
use would bring vitality to the arcade and avoid the unit remaining vacant.

Page 89



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.7 Impact on the special character of the AONB.
The site lies within the AONB. The NPPF advises that great weight should be given to 
conserving these areas. Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS seeks to enhance AONBs and to 
protect them from inappropriate development.

The proposed development does not involve any extension or external alteration to the 
unit. As such, it would not have any material impact on the special character of the 
AONB.

6.8 Impact on neighbours.
Policy EP2 of the SOLP seeks to resist proposals which would by reason of noise or 
vibrations have an adverse effect on neighbours. In this case, there are no residential 
properties within The Arcade and the use of the premises as a yoga or Pilates studio 
would not result in unacceptable noise or disturbance to dwellings in the vicinity of the 
site. The proposed use would fall within class D2 of the Use Classes Order. Other uses 
within this class include cinemas, music and concert halls, bingo and dance halls. Your 
officers have considered whether a condition restricting the site to yoga and Pilates only 
is appropriate. Given the modest size of the premises, it is considered very unlikely that 
it would be used for any of these other uses which may have a greater impact on 
neighbours from noise etc. and therefore no such condition has been recommended. 

6.9 Impact on parking.
Policy T2 of the SOLP requires all developments to provide adequate parking provision. 
The site occupies a village centre location close to existing public car parking. The use 
of the modest premises as a yoga/pilates studio is unlikely to result in an increase in 
vehicular movements compared to the use of the premises as a restaurant or retail 
shop. The County Highway Authority have raised no objection to this proposal 
confirming that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the 
highway network. In addition, the surrounding area has controls in the form of waiting 
restrictions and pay and display parking spaces which can be enforced so as to prevent 
indiscriminate/obstructive parking occurring within the vicinity.

6.10 Loss of retail unit.
This application is before planning committee because the Parish Council have 
objected to the proposal on the grounds that the development will result in the loss of a 
retail unit within The Arcade. For clarification, the last use of the unit was A3 in 
association with the adjacent Chinese restaurant.

6.11 Within the emerging Goring Neighbourhood Plan, it is stated that the Parish Council 
wish to secure the comprehensive redevelopment of part of the village including this 
arcade. This aim by the village to redevelop the arcade is not included as a policy within 
the NP. It is included as Action 10 within the plan. Whilst your officers respect the aim 
to do this work, this current planning application must be assessed within the context of 
the existing Development Plan policies and Government advice. The refusal of planning 
permission on the grounds that the area may be redeveloped in the future is not 
reasonable in your officers’ opinion and is contrary to advice within the NPPF which 
advises that the refusal of planning permission on the grounds of prematurity will 
seldom be justified. 

In addition, the applicants own the arcade and so would be involved in any 
redevelopment/development of this area. 

6.12 Policy CF2 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that proposals that will result in the provision 
of additional community facilities or services within settlements will be permitted 

Page 90



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

provided that there is no overriding amenity, environmental or traffic objections and that 
there is no conflict with other policies in the plan. 

6.13 This application would provide an additional community facility by way of a yoga/Pilates 
studio which would be used predominantly by local people. As discussed above, the 
proposal would not result in amenity, environmental or traffic issues.

6.14 Policy CF3 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that within the neighbourhood centres in the 
larger villages, changes of use of shops to non-retail uses will only be permitted where 
this would not detract from the overall role and attractiveness of the shopping area. 
Within the arcade there are existing non-shopping uses such as a financial adviser, 
care hub, restaurant and café. The unit which is the subject of this application is 
currently vacant and therefore does not contribute to the role or attractiveness of the 
area. By changing its use, the unit would be brought back into use and would not 
appear out of keeping with the various other existing uses within the arcade. Also, the 
last use of the unit was a non-retail use so there is no loss of a retail unit.

6.15 In order to make the change of use of premises more flexible and to boost the 
economy, the Government has included a number of classes within the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 which do not 
require planning permission. Class J allows the change of use from a use within Class 
A1(shops) to a use falling within Class D2 (assembly and leisure) without requiring 
planning permission subject to a number of conditions. One of these conditions is that 
the site does not lie within a conservation area or AONB. As such, in this instance, as 
the site lies within the Goring conservation area and the AONB, the change of use 
would require planning permission. This does illustrate however, that in many 
circumstances, the change of use from retail to assembly and leisure would not actually 
require planning permission. 

6.16 It is worth noting that a report entitled “Changing Face of the High Street” by 
consultants DTZ, highlights the importance of leisure facilities in town centres, as 
follows; “leisure uses are more important than ever to retail, particularly given their 
ability to increase dwell time”. In my view, the proposed development would support the 
viability and vitality of the town centre by providing a more mixed offering to local 
residents. 

6.17 Government advice within the NPPF (2018) advises Local Planning Authorities to 
approach decision making in a positive and creative way working with applicants to 
secure developments which will improve the economic social and environmental 
conditions of the area. It also encourages them to respond to changes in economic 
circumstances and to promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings. By enabling a vacant unit to be used for an alternative use this proposal 
would comply with the sentiments of the guidance within the NPPF

6.18 In addition, the South Oxfordshire District Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment 2016 
supports the diversification of town centres and confirms that “town centres with a 
strong broad retail and leisure mix can be expected to benefit directly from the upturn in 
the wider national economy as footfall and expenditure in town centres increase.” As 
such, the change of use of the premises to a leisure use is considered to be in line with 
Government advice within the NPPF and more other related reports exploring retail and 
leisure uses.

Page 91



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.19 Community Infrastructure Levy.
This proposal is not CIL liable as it is not creating additional floor area and relates to a 
use which is excluded from CIL liability.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the unit is currently 

vacant and detracts from the character and vitality of the area. The proposed change of 
use would not appear out of keeping within the arcade given the variety of uses already 
there. The proposed change of use would not be harmful to the character of the 
conservation area or result in amenity or highway issues. The proposal accords with 
Development Plan policies and Government advice.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions

1: Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2: Approved plans 

Author:        Kim Gould
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 92



Appendix 1

Page 93

Agenda Item 13



Colin Dawson Associates
Architectural Design and Building Surveying

Malvern House,
1 Malvern Way

Twyford Reading Berkshire RG10 9PY

01189343322
cdadesign@ntlworld.com

Drawing

As Existing  & Planning Proposals -- Floor Layout plan and Elevations
Date  April 2019                                               Scale  1:100 on A3 paper                                           Drawing No  D1306-02

Location

Unit 4 The Arcade High Street Goring Reading Berkshire.
Project

Proposed Change of use.

1:100 scale on A3 size paper    .    Print at 1:1 scale.

cycles and motor bikes.

10000 mm

NORTHEAST  ELEVATION

SOUTHWEST ELEVATION

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Unit 4

Unit 5

Unit 3

Unit 6

Unit 7

Concourse
refuse and recycling
storage area

Appendix 2

P
age 94



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0161/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 22.1.2019
PARISH ROTHERFIELD GREYS
WARD MEMBERS Lorraine Hillier

Jo Robb
APPLICANT Lukmore LLP
SITE Pinfold Greys Green, RG9 4QG
PROPOSAL Erection of two two-storey 5-bedroom dwellings. (as 

amended by plans received 21 March 2019 revising 
the design, scale and position of the proposed 
dwellings and adding privacy screens to the 
proposed rear balconies).

OFFICER Victoria Clarke

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is referred to the Planning Committee because the Parish Council 

objects to the proposal.  Officers recommend that planning permission be granted for 
the reasons outlined in this report.  

1.2 The application site is shown at Appendix 1.  The site comprises part of a 
paddock/garden area that is set back from the main road and is positioned between 
two residential properties; Pinfold and Cooper’s Close and to the rear of the village 
hall.  The site is accessed via a private driveway that runs from the main road behind 
the village hall and has mature hedging on either side.  

1.3 The site lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  The northern 
and eastern boundaries of the application site abut the Greys Green Conservation 
Area. 

1.4 The land already has extant planning permission for two dwellings (one detached two-
storey three-bedroom dwelling and one detached two-storey four-bedroom dwelling).  
These permissions as shown at Appendix 2 have yet to be implemented.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of two detached two-

storey five-bedroom dwellings with attached double garages.  

2.2 Copies of the current plans are provided at Appendix 3 whilst other documentation 
associated with the application can be viewed on the Council’s website: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF
=P19/S0161/FUL

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Rotherfield Greys Parish Council 

First consultation: Object
 Overdevelopment 
 Insufficient amenity space for Plot 1
 Insufficient parking provision

Amended plans consultation: object

Page 95

Agenda Item 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0161/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S0161/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S0161/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

 Overdevelopment 
 Insufficient parking provision

3.2 Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council)
First consultation: No objection, subject to conditions:

 Vehicular accesses to be constructed to OCC specification
 Parking and manoeuvring areas to be retained
 Retain garages for parking

3.3 Neighbours – one neighbour objects
First consultation: object

 Overlooking of Cooper’s Close 
 Noise disturbance
 Overdevelopment of the plots
 Insufficient parking provision

Amended plans consultation: object
 Overdevelopment
 Large dwellings on small plots is out of keeping with character of the area
 Insufficient infrastructure to support two dwellings in the village

Neighbour – one neighbour has no strong views
 The drive from the main road should be made good following construction

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S0938/FUL - Approved (16/06/2017)

Erection of new two-storey 4-bedroom dwelling with detached garage (access rights 
and visibility splays shown on amended plans received 28th April 2017).
related to P16/S2825/FUL

P16/S2825/FUL - Approved (19/12/2016)
Erection of new 3-bedroom dwelling with detached garage (as amended by plans 
received 30 November 2016 removing the single storey element, reducing
the width, depth and eaves height of the house, re-siting the house, and reducing the 
scale and changing the siting of the garage).
related to P17/S0938/FUL

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies
CS1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 The Overall Strategy
CSR1  Housing in villages
CSEN1 Landscape protection
CSEN3 Historic environment
CSQ3  Design

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies
C4   Landscape setting of settlements
C9  Loss of landscape features
CON7  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  Principles of good design

Page 96

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0938/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2825/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

D2  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  Outdoor amenity area
D4  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10 Waste Management
G2  Protect district from adverse development
G4  Protection of Countryside
G5  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
H4  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 
Section 7 – Plots and Buildings

Greys Green Conservation Area Character Study – 15/06/2011

South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment 2003
Character Area 10 – Chilterns Plateau with Valleys

Chilterns Buildings Design Guide
Chapter 3

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The planning issues that are relevant to this application are whether the development 

would:
 be in accordance with the Council’s strategy for housing development in rural 

areas;
 result in the loss of an open space or view of public, environmental or ecological 

value;
 be in keeping with the rural character and appearance of the surroundings and 

maintain the setting of the adjacent Greys Green Conservation Area;
 ensure that important trees are retained;
 safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residential occupiers and would 

provide adequate living conditions for future occupiers of the development;
 demonstrate safe and convenient access and adequate off-street parking 

provision for the development;
 provide an appropriate mix of housing; and
 give rise to any other material planning considerations

6.2 Principle of Development

The principle of erecting two dwellings on the site has already been established under 
applications P16/S2825/FUL and P17/S0938/FUL. 

6.3 The application site falls within the built-up limits of Greys Green, which is classed as 
an “other village” in the SOCS where Policy CSR1 permits infill housing development 
on sites of up to 0.1 hectares.  The application site is 0.19 hectares, which is larger than 
the threshold.  However, permission has been granted for two dwellings under two 
separate applications on smaller subdivided sections of the plot.  The proposed 
development meets the definition of infill development because the site is closely 
surrounded by other buildings: Pinfold to the west and Coopers Cottage to the east and 
the village hall to the north.  

Page 97



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.4 Consequently the proposal falls to be assessed primarily against the criteria of Policy 
H4 of the SOLP 2011, which are addressed below.

6.5 Loss of Open Space

Criterion (i) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that an important open space of 
public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt.  
The site is presently undeveloped, but there is no public access to it.  There is no 
evidence of the site having any ecological value.  Views towards the site from the road 
are filtered by a line of mature planting along the boundary with the village hall, with 
these trees having protection due to the location within the conservation area.  
Rotherfield Greys Bridleway 14 affords some views towards the site from the south.  
However, these are over a distance of about 300 metres and the proposed dwellings 
would be seen in the context of adjoining dwellings.  This criterion would therefore be 
satisfied.

6.6 Visual Impact

Criterion (ii) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that the design, height, scale and 
materials of the proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings and 
criterion (iii) requires that the character of the area is not affected.  The SOCS Policy 
CSEN1 aims to ensure that the District’s landscape is protected.  The SOCS Policy 
CSEN3 seeks to preserve or enhance the District's designated heritage assets, 
including conservation areas and listed buildings.  Policy CON7 sets out the statutory 
duty to preserve or enhance conservation areas.  The proposed dwellings would 
present front elevations of traditional form and proportions to the conservation area.  
The walls would be finished with facing brickwork and flint panelled walls, and the roofs 
would be finished with clay tiles.  Stone window surrounds and oak porches are also 
proposed.  The proposed dwellings would be similar in height and scale to both Pinfold 
and Coopers Close.  

6.7 Officers consider that the proposed scale, form and design of the dwellings, and their 
relationship to the plots, are acceptable and would preserve the character of the 
adjoining conservation area.  The proposed dwellings would not appear unduly 
prominent or cramped when compared with the established settlement pattern and 
density.  Having given particular regard to the existing relationship between Cooper’s 
Cottage and Shepherd’s Cottage, officers consider that the proposal would not be 
harmful to the landscape setting of Greys Green within this part of the Chilterns AONB.  
A landscaping condition requiring the submission of planting and boundary treatment, 
including the planting of trees is recommended to assimilate the development into the 
landscape.  In the light of the above assessment, the proposed development would 
comply with the above criteria.

6.8 Important Trees

There are some mature trees on the boundary, and adjacent to the site.  Some of these 
on the northern and eastern boundary of the site fall within the conservation area and 
are therefore protected.  The proposed development would be sited some distance 
from these trees but due to the protected status of the trees it is considered necessary 
to attach a tree protection condition to ensure their roots are not harmed during the 
construction period in accordance with the SOCS Policies CSEN1, CSEN3 and the 
SOLP 2011 Policy C9.

Page 98



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

6.9 Residential Amenity Impact

Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
amenity objections.  Policy D4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that all new dwellings should 
be designed and laid out so as to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the 
occupiers.  

6.10 The amended proposal has re-orientated the property proposed on Plot 2 to prevent 
direct overlooking of the garden of Cooper’s Close.  The spacing, siting and orientation 
of the proposed dwellings would be sufficient to prevent any undue loss of light, outlook 
or privacy to the occupiers of neighbouring properties.  

6.11 It is recommended that the balconies be subject to a privacy screen condition to 
prevent loss of privacy to the garden of Pinfold and Cooper’s Close and those of the 
proposed dwellings.  No windows are proposed at first floor level on the respective side 
elevations of either property, which would maintain acceptable levels of mutual privacy.  

6.12 The resultant garden areas for the proposed dwellings would comfortably exceed the 
minimum 100 square metres standard for dwellings of this size set out in Section 7 of 
the SODG 2016.  The amenity element of the above criteria is satisfied.

6.13 Access and Parking

Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 also requires that there are no overriding 
highway objections.  The Highway Liaison Officer does not object to the proposal 
subject to conditions requiring the construction of the vehicular accesses to the Local 
Highway Authority’s specification, the construction and retention of the parking and 
manoeuvring areas and the retention of the garages for parking.  A condition requiring 
the provision and maintenance of vision splays at the access to each plot is also 
recommended.
 

6.14 Other Material Planning Considerations

Although matters of increased noise nuisance have been raised by third parties, officers 
are satisfied that any issues arising could continue to be investigated under the 
‘statutory nuisance’ provisions under the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  

6.15 Officers consider that it is necessary to impose a planning condition to remove 
permitted development rights for extensions and outbuildings, so that the Council could 
exercise control over any future householder development that might otherwise be 
visually harmful or unneighbourly.

6.16 Community Infrastructure Levy

The proposed dwellings are liable for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The CIL 
charge applied to new residential development in this case is £150 (index linked) per 
square metre of additional floorspace (Zone 1).  15% of the CIL payment would go to 
Rotherfield Greys Parish Council in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood Plan for 
spending towards local projects.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend the application for approval because the proposal complies with 

the relevant Development Plan Policies, Supplementary Planning Guidance and 
Government Guidance and, subject to the attached conditions, would preserve the 
character and appearance of the adjacent Greys Green Conservation Area, would 

Page 99



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 3 July 2019

conserve the landscape setting of Greys Green within the Chilterns AONB, would 
safeguard important trees and would not be unneighbourly or result in conditions 
prejudicial to highway safety.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 

1: Commencement of development within three years
2: Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
3: A schedule of materials to be submitted for approval
4: Levels details must be submitted 
5: Privacy screens to be installed and retained on the sides of the rear balconies 
6: Withdrawal of permitted development rights (no extensions or outbuildings 
      without applying for planning permission)
7: New vehicular access to be constructed to Local Highway Authority 
      specification 
8: Vision splay protection 
9: Parking & manoeuvring areas to be constructed and retained
10: No conversion of garages into living accommodation
11: Tree Protection details to be submitted for approval
12: Proposed landscaping (include boundary treatment) to be submitted for 
       approval

Author: Victoria Clarke
Tel:        01235 422600
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 100



Page 101

Agenda Item 14

SAV_ClarkeV
Typewriter
APPENDIX 1



KEY:-

SITE BOUNDARY

00.00 EXISTING SPOT SITE LEVELS

CONSENTED SCHEMES

EXISTING TREES

Ridgeway House

Cooper's Close

H

a

l
l

Pinfold

P

a

t

h

SCALE BAR 1:200

5 m0 10 15 20 METRES

1

0

2

.

4

8

1
0
2
.
2
8

1

0

2

.

4

3

1

0

2

.
5

1

1

0

2

.
7

6

1

0

2

.

5

6

1

0

2

.
5

3

1

0

2

.

4

6

1

0

1

.

9

1

1

0

1

.
6

4

1

0

1

.

6

4

1

0

1

.

7

1

1

0

1

.
9

8

1

0

2

.
2

7

1

0

2

.
1

7

1

0

2

.
2

4

1

0

2

.

1

6

1

0

2

.

1

2

1

0

2

.

6

3

1

0

2

.

5

5

1

0

2

.

5

5

1

0

2

.

5

2

1

0

2

.

4

1

10
1.
47

102.57

102.77

102.15

102.31

102.12

101.92

101.95

102.40

102.13

102.19

102.39

102.64

1

0

2

.

2

6

1

0

1

.

9

2

1
0
2
.
1
0

1
0
1
.
8
8

1

0

1

.
7

5

1

0

1

.

6

3

1

0

1

.

6

1

1

0

1

.
6

5

1

0

1

.
7

1

1
0
2
.
1
4

1
0
2
.
0
4

1

0

1

.

9

6

1

0

2

.
0

0

1

0

2

.

1

4

102.54

1

0

2

.
3

5

1

0

2

.

1

6

1

0

2

.

3

8

1

0

1

.

7

3

1

0

1

.

5

8

1

0

1

.
5

4

1

0

1

.
6

5

LUKMORE LLP

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

PINFOLD, GREYS GREEN,

ROTHERFIELD GREYS, RG9 4QG

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING SUBMISSION

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

CONTEXT SITE PLAN

1:200 @ A1 AUG '18 JGJS

18-J2520-CP-01 -

P
age 102

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

SAV_ClarkeV_1
Typewriter
APPENDIX 2 - Previously permitted schemes



Shepherd's

Hall

Right of way
over extg driveway

0m

1m

2m

4m

8m

16m

1:200 scale Bar
This Drawing has been produced for printing onto A2 size paper,
If printing on A3 please use the scale below for reference.

Mr & Mrs N Digby

Pinfold, Greys Green, Rotherfield Greys
Henley on Thames RG9 4QG
Proposed Site Plan

1:200@ A2 ALM JUNE 2016 3385 / 207 BSite Plan 1:200

A Client's alterations ALM 16.08.16
B General revision for planning ALM 28.08.16

Day Tanner Partnership
www.daytanner.co.uk

51 Peach Street

Wokingham

Berkshire

RG40 1XP

0118 989 0808

info@daytanner.co.uk

DATEDRAWNSCALE

DRG

JOB

CLIENT

Rev Description Date

Wokingham

ARCHITECTURE
A N D P L A N N I N G

By

Disclaimer
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED UNLESS ISSUED FOR PLANNING PURPOSES.
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO SETTING OUT, COMMENCING
WORK, OR PRODUCTION OF FABRICATION DRAWINGS.
REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE SUPERVISING OFFICER IMMEDIATELY.
DRAWINGS MARKED AS 'DRAFT' ARE FOR APPROVAL ONLY AND NOT ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES. COPYRIGHT ©

P
age 103



0m

0.5m

1m

2m

4m

8m

1:50 scale Bar

NEW GARAGE

+
STORE

Mr & Mrs N Digby

Pinfold, Greys Green, Rotherfield Greys
Henley on Thames RG9 4QG
Proposed Elevations 1 of 3

1:100 @ A3 ALM JUNE 2016 3385 / 203 C

North Elevation 1:100

East Elevation 1:100

A Client's alterations ALM 10.08.16
B Client's alterations ALM 16.08.16
C General revision for planning ALM 28.11.16

DATEDRAWNSCALE

DRG

JOB

CLIENT

Day Tanner Partnership
www.daytanner.co.uk

ARCHITECTURE
A N D P L A N N I N G

Rev Description DateBy

Disclaimer
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED UNLESS ISSUED FOR PLANNING PURPOSES.
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO SETTING OUT, COMMENCING
WORK, OR PRODUCTION OF FABRICATION DRAWINGS.
REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE SUPERVISING OFFICER IMMEDIATELY.
DRAWINGS MARKED AS 'DRAFT' ARE FOR APPROVAL ONLY AND NOT ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES. COPYRIGHT ©

Suite 1A

Market House

19-21 Market Place

Wokingham

Berkshire

RG40 1AP

0118 989 0808

info@daytanner.co.uk

P
age 104



0m

0.5m

1m

2m

4m

8m

1:100 scale Bar
This Drawing has been produced for printing onto A3 size paper.

Mr & Mrs N Digby

New House at Pinfold, Greys Green,
Rotherfield Greys, Henley on Thames RG9 4QG
Proposed Elevations

1:100 @ A3 KN Feburary 2017 3385-254DATEDRAWNSCALE

DRG

JOB

CLIENT

Day Tanner Partnership
www.daytanner.co.uk

ARCHITECTURE
A N D P L A N N I N G

Rev Description DateBy

Disclaimer
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED UNLESS ISSUED FOR PLANNING PURPOSES.
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO SETTING OUT, COMMENCING
WORK, OR PRODUCTION OF FABRICATION DRAWINGS.
REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE SUPERVISING OFFICER IMMEDIATELY.
DRAWINGS MARKED AS 'DRAFT' ARE FOR APPROVAL ONLY AND NOT ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES. COPYRIGHT ©

Suite 1A

Market House

19-21 Market Place

Wokingham

Berkshire

RG40 1AP

0118 989 0808

info@daytanner.co.uk

North Elevation

South Elevation

East Elevation

West Elevation

P
age 105



Hall

Right of way
over extg driveway

0m

1m

2m

4m

8m

16m

1:200 scale Bar
This Drawing has been produced for printing onto A2 size paper,
If printing on A3 please use the scale below for reference.

1:20 scale Bar
This Drawing has been produced for printing onto A2 size paper,

Mr & Mrs N Digby

Pinfold, Greys Green, Rotherfield Greys
Henley on Thames RG9 4QG
Proposed Site Plan

1:200@ A2 KN March 2017 3385/257 B

17m
17m

2.4m

Existing Hedgerow to
be trimmed to 0.6m

A Hatching of access road GH 25/04/17

B Addition of site line to driveway GH 25/04/17

Day Tanner Partnership
www.daytanner.co.uk

51 Peach Street

Wokingham

Berkshire

RG40 1XP

0118 989 0808

info@daytanner.co.uk

DATEDRAWNSCALE

DRG

JOB

CLIENT

Rev Description Date

Wokingham

ARCHITECTURE
A N D P L A N N I N G

By

Disclaimer
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED UNLESS ISSUED FOR PLANNING PURPOSES.
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO SETTING OUT, COMMENCING
WORK, OR PRODUCTION OF FABRICATION DRAWINGS.
REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE SUPERVISING OFFICER IMMEDIATELY.
DRAWINGS MARKED AS 'DRAFT' ARE FOR APPROVAL ONLY AND NOT ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES. COPYRIGHT ©

P
age 106



00.00

Plot 2

Plot 1

1

0

2

.

4

8

1
0
2
.
2
8

1

0

2

.

4

3

1

0

2

.
5

1

1

0

2

.
7

6

1

0

2

.

5

6

1

0

2

.
5

3

1

0

2

.

4

6

1

0

1

.

9

1

1

0

1

.
6

4

1

0

1

.

6

4

1

0

1

.

7

1

1

0

1

.
9

8

1

0

2

.
2

7

1

0

2

.
1

7

1

0

2

.
2

4

1

0

2

.

1

6

1

0

2

.

1

2

1

0

2

.

6

3

1

0

2

.

5

5

102.41

101.4
7

102.57

102.77

102.15

102.12

101.92

101.95

102.40

102.13

102.19

102.39

102.64

1

0

2

.

2

6

1

0

1

.

9

2

1
0
2
.
1
0

1
0

1
.
8

8

1

0

1

.
7

5

1

0

1

.

6

3

1

0

1

.

6

1

1

0

1

.
6

5

1

0

1

.

7

1

1
0
2
.
1
4

1
0
2
.
0
4

1

0

1

.

9

6

1

0

2

.
0

0

1

0

2

.

1

4

102.54

1

0

2

.
3

5

1

0

2

.

1

6

1

0

2

.

3

8

1

0

1

.

7

3

1

0

1

.

5

8

1

0

1

.
5

4

1

0

1

.
6

5

FFL - 102.68

102.53

Pinfold

Cooper's Close

KEY:-

SITE BOUNDARY

00.00 EXISTING SPOT SITE LEVELS

CONSENTED SCHEMES

TREES  TO BE REMOVED

PROPOSED SPOT SITE LEVELS

NEW TREES & HEDGES

BINS

Plot 2 Garden Amenity = 241sqmPlot 1 Garden Amenity = 241sqm

BINS

Addition Plot 1 Amenity

COOPERS CLOSE PLOT TWO PLOT ONE PINFOLD

Approximate height of Coopers Close

Approximate height of Pinfold LUKMORE LLP

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

PINFOLD, GREYS GREEN,

ROTHERFIELD GREYS, RG9 4QG

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING SUBMISSION

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

& STREET SCENE

1:200 @ A1 AUG '18 JGJS

18-J2520-01 B

PROPOSED STREET SCENE SHOWING COMPARISONS WITH NEIGHBOURING HOUSES

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

A            7-3-19         Reduced scheme following planner comments

B            21-3-19       General amendments

P
age 107

SAV_ClarkeV_2
Typewriter
APPENDIX 3 



U
P

SCHEDULE OF AREAS

GF - 133sqm (1,435sqft) GIA

FF - 140sqm (1,505sqft) GIA

Total - 273sqm (2,940sqft) GIA

FRONT ELEVATION
SIDE ELEVATION

GROUND FLOOR

UP

HOME

OFFICE

cloaks

SH

BREAKFAST

KITCHEN

U
P

LIVING ROOM

DINING ROOM

FAMILY

HALL

0 1 2 3 4 m 6 8 10 metres

FIRST FLOOR

1
5

0
0

 
D

-
D

o
o

r

2.1m HH

FTC - 2.4m

DN

W

BEDROOM 3

Balcony

AC

1.5m HH

1.8m HH

2.1m

balcony

void

BEDROOM 2

FTC - 2.4m

1.8m HH

BATH

ENS

1.5m HH

W

BEDROOM 4

BEDROOM 5

ENS

DRESS

BEDROOM 1

W

CPD

ENS

W

1
5

0
0

 
D

-
D

o
o

r

1500 D-Door

REAR ELEVATION
SIDE ELEVATION

FTC - 2.4m

1.5m HH

1.8m HH

2.1m HH

Line of existing application

Garage - 36sqm (390sqft) GIA

19805

20582
Width of existing application

Width of proposed scheme

GARGAR

Line of existing application

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

privacy screen

privacy screen

privacy screen

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

LUKMORE LLP

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

PINFOLD, GREYS GREEN,

ROTHERFIELD GREYS, RG9 4QG

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING SUBMISSION

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

PLOT ONE

PROPOSED PLANS & ELEVATIONS

1:100 @ A1 AUG '18 JGJS

18-J2520-03 B

A            7-3-19         Reduced scheme following planner comments

B            21-3-19       General amendments

P
age 108

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
N



BATH

BEDROOM 5

BEDROOM 1

BEDROOM 2

BEDROOM 4

DN

W

BEDROOM 3

W

W

AC

W

1200 D-Door

juliette balcony

ENSDRESS

1
5

0
0

 
D

-
D

o
o

r

balcony

void

LANDING

GROUND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

SCHEDULE OF AREAS

GF - 122sqm (1,313sqft) GIA

FF - 144sqm (1,550sqft) GIA

Total - 266sqm (2,863sqft) GIA

0 1 2 3 4 m 6 8 10 metres

SCALE 1:100

FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION

ENS
ENS

1.5m HH

1.8m HH

2.1m HH

2.4m FTC

1.5m HH

1.8m HH

2.1m HH

2.4m FTC

1.5m HH

1.8m HH

2.1m HH

1
5

0
0

 
D

-
D

o
o

r

balcony

2.4m FTC

Garage - 36sqm (390sqft) GIA

Line of existing application

FAMILY

BREAKFAST

KITCHEN

HOME

OFFICE

DINING ROOM

LIVING ROOM

cloaks

1500 D-Door

1500 D-Door

1

5

0

0

 

D

-

D

o

o

r

UP

SH

UTILITY ROOM

GARAGE

HALL

rooflight above

UP

GAR GAR

1
5

0
0

 
D

-
D

o
o

r

1
5

0
0

 
D

-
D

o
o

r

rooflight above

18355

19234
Width of existing application

Width of proposed scheme

Line of existing application

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

p
r
i
v
a

c
y
 
s
c
r
e

e
n

privacy screen

privacy screenprivacy screen

LUKMORE LLP

Scale.

DRAWING  No.

PINFOLD, GREYS GREEN,

ROTHERFIELD GREYS, RG9 4QG

DetailDateRev.

Status

Client

Rev.

Date Drawn

Project Title

DRAWING  Title

The copyright in this document and design is confidential to and
the property of Ascot Design Limited

PLANNING SUBMISSION

ASCOT DESIGN
Timeless architecture

Ascot Design Ltd, Berkshire House 39-51 High Street, Ascot, Berkshire, SL5 7HY
Tel: 01344 299330 Fax: 01344 299331 Email: info@ascotdesign .com

www.ascotdesign.com

PLOT TWO

PROPOSED PLANS & ELEVATIONS

1:100 @ A1 AUG '18 JGJS

18-J2520-02 B

A            7-3-19         Reduced scheme following planner comments

B            21-3-19       General amendments

P
age 109

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
N



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	8 P19/S0614/RM - 14 Ilges Lane Cholsey, OX10 9NX
	Appendices 1-2
	OS Extract
	Block Plan Proposed Dwg_K1872 - 02 - 202B
	K1872 - 02 - 202 Proposed Block Plan

	Site Layout & First Floor Plan Proposed Dwg_K1872 - 02 - 205B
	K1872 - 02 - 205 Proposed Site Layout

	Site Layout Overlay Plan Dwg_K1872 - 02 - 206B
	K1872 - 02 - 206 Site Layout



	9 P19/S0358/FUL & P19/S0359/LB - The Chequers Inn, Berrick Salome, OX10 6JN
	Appendices 1-2
	1 Appendix
	2 Site Plan As Proposed Dwg_1702_01C
	2a Ground Floor Plan As Existing Dwg_1702_51B
	2b Ground Floor Plan As Proposed Dwg_1702_02E
	2c First and Second Floor Plan As Existing Dwg_1702_52A
	2d First and Second Floor Plans As Proposed Dwg_1702_03C
	2e Elevations Sheet 2 of 2 As Existing Dwg_1702_54A
	2f Front and side elevations As Proposed Dwg_1702_04D
	2g Rear and side elevations As Proposed Dwg_1702_05D


	10 P19/S0171/RM - Land at Woodcote Road, South Stoke, RG8 0JJ
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 - location plan
	Appendix 2 - Plans and Elevations


	11 P19/S0095/FUL - Windrush Bridge Terrace Thame, Oxon, OX9 3LU
	Appendices A-C
	1 GIS plan
	2 Elevations and floor plan proposed drwgno 3b
	3 Location and block plan drwgno 6c
	3a Elevations and floor plan proposed drwgno 3d


	12 P18/S2900/FUL - 3 Elmcroft Goring, RG8 9EU
	Appendices 1-2
	1 4c1055cdd832468db699f2409df5f56c
	2 Proposed Block Plan - 1901 Rev. C
	3 Floor Plans and Elevations Proposed drwgno 18-1845-201 Rev A


	13 P19/S1246/FUL - Unit 4, The Arcade, High Street, Goring, RG8 9AY
	Appendices 1-2
	1 GIS
	2 Elevations & Floor plan drwgno P1-D1306-02


	14 P19/S0161/FUL - Pinfold Greys Green, RG9 4QG
	Appendices 1-3
	Appendix 1 - location plan
	Appendix 2 - 1
	Sheets and Views
	18-J2520 - Planning Application (July 2018)-CP-01 - Context Plan


	Appendix 2 - 2
	Appendix 2 - 3
	Appendix 2 - 4
	Appendix 2 - 5
	Appendix 3 - 1
	Sheets and Views
	18-J2520 - Planning Application (March 2019)-01 - Proposed Site Plan


	Appendix 3 - 2
	Sheets and Views
	18-J2520 - Planning Application (March 2019)-03 - Plot 1 (Proposed)


	Appendix 3 - 3
	Sheets and Views
	18-J2520 - Planning Application (March 2019)-02 - Plot 2 (Proposed)







